IDENTIFICATION OF PYGOPUS 2 AS A COMPONENT OF THE RIBOSOMAL RNA TRANSCRIPTION COMPLEX IN CANCER





# IDENTIFICATION OF PYGOPUS 2 AS A COMPONENT OF THE RIBOSOMAL RNA TRANSCRIPTION COMPLEX IN CANCER

By

**OZhijian He** 

A thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

**Division of Biomedical Sciences**,

**Faculty of Medicine** 

Memorial University of Newfoundland

June, 2008

St. John's

Newfoundland and Labrador

### Abstract

**Background**: Pygopus was initially validated as a co-activator for the canonical Wnt signaling pathway, a critical intracellular cascade implicated both in development and cancer. Further studies indicated that Pygopus appears to have both Wnt-dependent and Wnt-independent functions. Our lab has demonstrated that human Pygopus 2 (hPygo2) was overexpressed and required for Epithelial Ovarian Cancer cell growth in the absence of Wnt signaling. **Purpose:** The purpose of this thesis was to investigate the mechanism of Wnt-independent requirement of hPygo2 for Epithelial Ovarian Cancer cell growth.

Hypothesis and Objectives: I hypothesized that hPygo2 achieves Wntindependent functions in Epithelial Ovarian Cancer via interacting with protein factors not related to Wnt signaling. Therefore, three objectives were proposed in this thesis: 1) to determine minimal domain(s) of hPygo2 required for Wntindependent Epithelial Ovarian Cancer cell growth; 2) to identify potential protein factors that interact with this critical domain; and 3) to characterize the identified interactions.

**Results:** *Objective 1*). The transfection of hPygo2-specific antisense oligonucleotides in Wnt-inactive Epithelial Ovarian Cancer cell line, SKOV-3 led to cell growth arrest, as shown previously. To assess the sequence requirements of hPygo2 for SKOV-3 cell growth, plasmids encoding various mutant hPygo2 with site-specific alterations within the transcriptional activation domain (N-terminal

i

Homology Domain, NHD) or Wnt-mediating domain (Plant Homeodomain, PHD) were transfected in the hPygo-2-specific antisense treated SKOV-3 cells. Like wild-type hPygo2, mutant hPygo2 proteins with alterations in the PHD that prevented their Wnt-mediating ability restored the growth levels of antisensetreated SKOV-3 cells. On the other hand, hPygo2 protein with mutations in the transcriptional activation NHD domain, failed to restore cell growth. Objective 2). Using a proteomics approach, I identified several possible proteins including p68, RNA helicases II/Gu, Nop56, and Treacle protein from SKOV-3 nuclear extracts that bound to the NHD domain. Objective 3). The treacle protein was identified to have the highest probability of interaction with hPygo2. This interaction was confirmed in vitro and in vivo, in cancer cells. Immunofluorescence assays indicated that Treacle colocalized with hPygo2 in the nucleoli of SKOV-3 and HeLa cancer cells. Actinomycin D treatment in HeLa cells suggested that hPygo2 is a fibrillar component of the nucleolus and may be involved in transcription or early modification of premature ribosomal RNAs.

**Conclusions:** The NHD, but not the PHD domain, of hPygo2 protein is required for Wnt-independent SKOV-3 cell proliferation. The hPygo2 interacts with Treacle through its NHD domain and co-localizes with Treacle to the fibrillar compartment of nucleolus in cancer cells. Thus, these results suggest one of the Wnt-independent functions of hPygo2 is involved in ribosomal biogenesis.

### Acknowledgements

My graduate program would never be possible without the continuous support from my supervisor Dr. Ken Kao. I would, firstly and sincerely, like to thank him for accepting me to work in his lab. I also indeed appreciate his invaluable encouragement and supervision, which helps me to evoke strong interest in cancer research and helps me to work independently and think critically.

I am grateful to my committee members Dr. Laura Gillespie, Dr. Terry-Lynn Young and Dr. Cathy Popadiuk not only for the helpful suggestions they offered but also for the precious time they dedicated to review my thesis. I gratefully acknowledge Phillip Andrews, Mark Kennedy, Youlian Tzenov, Keelia Farrell, Jieying Xiong, Corinne Mercer, Gordon Nash, Heather Fifield, Amanda Parsons, Jacklyn Clements, Andrew Joy and all the Terry Fox Lab members for their helpful advice and instructions as well as wonderful friendship. They made me feel like at home and made me really enjoy the work at the Terry Fox Lab. I would also like to thank Dr. Gary Paterno and Dr. Jon Church for their instruction and discussion, and thank Lidan Tao and Elizabeth Perry for their technical support on proteomic and genomic analysis.

Lastly, I am greatly indebted to my wife Lin Zheng and my family. I indeed thank their tremendous love and support throughout the program.

### **Table of Contents**

Abstract	i
Acknowledgements	iii
Table of Contents	iv
List of Tables	vii
List of Figures	viii
List of Abbreviations	X

### **Chapter1** Introduction

1.1 Pygopus, a Crucial Component Originally Identified in Wnt Signaling1
1.1.1 Wnt Signal Transduction Pathways1
1.1.2 Wnt signaling in Development7
1.1.3 Wnt Signaling and Cancer10
1.1.4 Wnt Signaling and Epithelial Ovarian Cancer (EOC)12
1.2 Human Pygopus 2 (hPygo2) in EOC13
1.2.1 Pygopus proteins and their functional domains
1.2.2 hPygo2 is required for EOC growth in the Absense
of Wnt Signaling20
1.3 Purposes of the Thesis

### **Chapter2 Materials and Methods**

2.1 Cell Culture	24
2.2 Western Blotting	24
2.3 Cell Rescue Asssay	25
2.3.1 Plasmid Constructs	27
2.3.2 Antisense Oligonucleotides	
2.3.3 Experimental Groups	28
2.4 Mass Spectrometry	30
2.4.1 Production of GST-fusion Proteins	
2.4.2 GST-Pulldown Assay	31
2.4.3 In-gel Digestion and Mass-Spectrometry	31
2.5 Characterizing Protein-Protein Interactions	34
2.5.1 Immunofluorescence (IF) Microscopy	
2.5.2 Co-Immunoprecipitation (Co-IP) Assay	34
2.5.3 GST-Pulldown Assay with in vitro translated proteins	37
2.5.4 Actinomycin D (AMD) treatment	

# **Chapter 3 Results**

3.1	Cell Rescue Assay40
	3.1.1 hPygo2 PHD mutant can not bind human BCL-9 protein41
	3.1.2 Amino acid substitution of NPF to AAA abolished the
	transcriptional activity of hPygo2 NHD domain

3.1.3 A functional NHD domain is required for rescuing
cell number decrease observed with Antisense treatment45
<b>3.2</b> Proteomics
<b>3.3</b> Characterizing Protein-Protein Interactions
3.3.1 Treacle interacts with hPygo2 in vivo in SKOV-3 and HeLa cells56
3.3.2 Treacle colocalizes with hPygo2 in the nucleoli
of SKOV-3 cells
3.3.3 Mapping protein interaction domains
3.3.4 hPygo2, Treacle and UBF co-segregated in Hela cells
treated with Actinomycin D (AMD)65

### **Chapter 4 Discussion**

4.1 Cell Rescue Assay	70
4.2 hPygo2 Interaction proteins	72
4.3 Significance of the Interaction between hPgyo2 and Treacle	76
4.4 Future Directions.	77

Chapter 5 Reference	80
Appendix	97

## List of Tables

Table 2.1	Experimental groups of co-transfections	29
Table 2.2	Primers used for amplifying successive deletion fragments	39

## List of Figures

Figure 1.1	Canonical Wnt signal transduction pathway	4
Figure 1.2	β-catenin/TCF transcriptional complex	6
Figure 1.3	Conserved domains of Pygopus proteins in different species	15
Figure 1.4	Structural domains of human Pygopus 2 protein (hPygo2)	17
Figure 1.5A.	EOC subtypes and EOC cell lines	21
Figure 1.5B.	hPygo2 expression in EOC cell lines	21
Figure 2.1A.	Rescuing plasmids.	26
Figure 2.1B.	Antisense Oligos for depleting hPygo2 protein	26
Figure 2.2	Diagram of GST pulldown assay	32
Figure 2.3	Diagram of Co-immunoprecipitation Assay	36
Figure 2.4	GST fused successive deletion fragments of hPygo2 protein	38
Figure 3.1	GST-PHD double point mutant abolished the interaction with	
	human BCL-9 (hBCL-9)	43
Figure 3.2A.	Western blot for recue assay	47
Figure 3.2B.	Cell rescue assay results	47
Figure 3.3.	Co-immunoprecipitation (Co-IP) assay for hPygo2	
	and Treacle in cancer cells	57
Figure 3.4	Treacle and hPygo2 colocalized in the nucleoli of SKOV-3 cells	59
Figure 3.5.	Deletion mapping-GST Pulldown Assay	62

Figure 3.6A.B	In vitro translated Treacle fragments	64
Figure 3.6C.	Interaction of the hPygo2 NHD domain and	
	Treacle fragments-GST Pulldown Assay	64
Figure 3.7	hPygo2 co-segregated with Treacle and UBF in	
	the Hela cells treated with AMD	68
Appendix Figu	re NHD NPF-AAA mutant lost transcription activity	
	determined by a transcriptional reporter assay	99

### Abbreviations

°C	degrees Celsius
β-ΤɾCΡ	β-transducin repeat-containing protein
μg	microgram
μί	microlitre
AMD	actinomycin D
ASO	antisense oligonucleotide
APC	adenomatous polyposis coli
A	adenosine
т	thymine
С	cytosine
G	guanine
BCL-9	B-cell lymphoma-9
CBP	CREB binding protein
Co-IP	co-immunoprecipitation
CK-I	Casein Kinase I
CRC	colorectal cancer
CREB	cAMP responsive element binding protein
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
Dsh,Dvl	dishevelled

EOC	epithelial ovarian cancer
FAP	familial adenomatous polyposis
FBS	fetal bovine serum
Frz	frizzled
GSK-3β	glycogen synthase kinase-3beta
GST	glutathione S transferase
ICC	immunocytochemistry
LRP	low density lipoprotein receptor-related
	protein
ml	millilitre
mM	milliMolar
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
NHD	N-terminal homology domain
NLS	nuclear localization sequence
nM	nanoMolar
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
Pygo	pygopus
PHD	plant homeodomain
RNA	ribonucleic acid
TCS	Treacher Collins Franceschetti Syndrome

SDS-PAGE	sodium docecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel
	electrophoresis
shRNAs	short hairpin RNAs
siRNAs	small interfering RNAs
TCF	T-cell factor
TCOF1	Treacher Collins-Franceschetti syndrome 1
TPBS	Triton X-100 in PBS
Wnt	wingless/Int

### CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

## 1.1 Pygopus, a Crucial Component Originally Identified in Wnt Signaling

Pygopus was initially identified as a co-activator for the canonical Wnt signaling pathway, a critical intracellular cascade implicated both in development and cancer. Given its central role in the Wnt signaling pathway, I would like to first discuss the Wnt signaling pathway and its biological implications.

#### **1.1.1 Wnt Signal Transduction Pathways**

The mouse proto-oncogene *int-1* was originally identified as a mammalian homolog of the segment polarity gene *Wingless in Drosophila* (Nusslein-Volhard and Wieschaus, 1980; Cabrera et al., 1987; Rijsewijk et al., 1987). The name "Wnt", derived from terms "Wingless" and "int-1", was then used to describe a cluster of metazoan genes which encode protein ligands that can trigger a number of intracellular cascade events. In the past two decades, the Wnt gene family has been expanded to 19 members in the human genome including *Wnt1*, *Wnt3a*, *Wnt8* (Katoh, 2002). The ligands encoded by these Wnt genes are evolutionarily conserved glycoproteins that have similar amino acid sequences normally with 22-24 cysteine residues (Katoh, 2002). They function via directly

- 1 -

binding to a 7-trans-membrane Frizzled (Fzl) receptor family (Bhanot et al., 1996). Given that at least 10 Frizzled protein isoforms have been found, the combination of Wnt ligands binding to Fzl receptors is intricate and not well characterized (reviewed by van Amerongen et al., 2008). The other family of co-receptors that Wnt ligands bind to is the low-density lipoprotein receptor-related proteins (LRP) corresponding to Arrow in *Drosophila* and LRP5 and 6 in vertebrates (He et al., 2004a; Wehrli et al., 2000).

The different combinations of Wnt/Fzl/LRP binding complexes can activate various intracellular pathways (reviewed by van Amerongen et al., 2008). The most well characterized one involves a key transducer  $\beta$ -catenin, referred to as the canonical Wnt signaling pathway or the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling pathway. Pygopus has been implicated only in the canonical Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway. The other pathways which are activated without the participation of  $\beta$ -catenin, defined as non-canonical Wnt signaling pathways, are not discussed here. Unless Otherwise specified, therefore, the phrase "Wnt signaling" will imply "canonical Wnt signaling pathway" in the following sections.

 $\beta$ -catenin has a role in epithelia as a component of cell adherens junctions. It is stably bound to the cell membrane proteins of the cadherin family in the absence of Wnt ligand, thus participating in cell adhesion (Kemler, 1993; Hulsken et el., 1994; Huber et al., 1997; Wheelock and Johnson, 2003). In the

- 2 -

absence of ligand binding, the "off" stage of Wnt signaling (Figure 1.1A), the surplus newly synthesized cytoplasmic  $\beta$ -catenin not associated with cadherin molecules, is targeted by a destruction complex that includes two scaffolding proteins, Axin and <u>A</u>denomatous <u>Polyposis Coli</u> (APC). These two proteins facilitate two kinases, <u>Glycogen Synthase Kinase-3</u> beta (GSK-3 $\beta$ ), and <u>C</u>asein <u>K</u>inase I (CK-I) to phosphorylate the N-terminal region of cytoplasmic  $\beta$ -catenin at residues Ser-45, Ser-33, Ser-37, and Thr-41 sequentially (Amit et al., 2002; Van Noort et al., 2002; Wu and He, 2006). Phosphorylated cytoplasmic  $\beta$ -catenin forms a complex with <u> $\beta$ -transducing repeat-containing protein</u> ( $\beta$ -TrCP) and ubiquitin proteins for proteosome-mediated degradation (Amit et al., 2002; Kishida et al., 1998; Patel and Woodgett, 2008; Peifer et al., 2000; Piao et al., 2008; Willert et al., 1999). As a result of this phosphorylation/degradation mechanism, cytoplasmic  $\beta$ -catenin is maintained at a low level in the absence of Wnt ligand.

The binding of Wnt ligands to Frz/LRP receptors activates a Frzinteraction protein known as Dishevelled (Dsh) (Figure 1.1B). Furthermore, Wnt stimulation leads to phosphorylation of the LRP6 receptor at <u>Pro-Pro-Pro-</u> (<u>SerTrp)Pro (PPP(S/T)P)</u> amino acid residues where it may anchor the Axin protein to the plasma membrane (Tamai et al., 2004; Tolwinski et al., 2003) and additional evidence suggests direct contact between Dsh and Axin proteins

- 3 -

Figure 1.1 Canonical Wnt signal transduction pathway. A. "off" Stage of Wnt Signaling:  $\beta$ -catenin is either associated with cell membrane or degraded upon proteosome-mediated means following the phosphorylation by Axin/APC/GSK-3 $\beta$ /CK-I scaffolding complex and the addition of  $\beta$ -TrCP and ubiquitin. B. "on" Stage of Wnt Signaling: The binding of available Wnt ligands to receptors (Fzl and Lrp) leads to the activation of Dsh and then the inhibition of the degradation complex, and ultimatedly results in the accumulation and translocation of  $\beta$ -catenin into the nucleus to activate Wnt target genes by recruiting BCL-9 and Pygo to form the TCF/  $\beta$ -catenin transcriptional complex.

## Wnt signaling pathway



following Wnt ligand/receptor binding (Piao et al., 2008; Zeng et al., 2008). Regardless, the activation of Dsh and its association with Axin are events that inhibit the assembly of the disruption complex (Axin, APC, and GSK-3B), which relieves cytosolic β-catenin from phosphorylation/degradation (Schwarz-Romond et al., 2007; Zeng et al., 2008). Unphosphorylated β-catenin can consequently accumulate in the cytoplasm and enter into the nucleus by a mechanism that is not fully understood. In the nucleus, stabilized  $\beta$ -catenin activates Wnt target genes through interaction with T-cell factor (TCF) DNA binding proteins. In the absence of Wnt stimulation, TCF forms a complex with Groucho as a repressor of target genes since the functional interaction between Groucho and the histone deacetylase (HDAC) protein Rpd3, may impede access of the basal transcriptional activation complex to DNA (Cavallo et al., 1998; Chen et al., 1999). During Wnt signaling, B-catenin enters into the nucleus, binds to TCF, and switches the TCF/Groucho complex in a transcriptional repression mode to an activation mode by recruiting multiple cofactors. Of these cofactors, the Histone acetyltransferase CBP/p300 and a chromatin remodeling component Brg-1 are proposed to interact with TCF/B-catenin comlex and facilitate Wnt target gene transcription by inducing chromatin remodeling (Barker et al., 2001; Hecht et al., 2000). The recruitment of Pygopus as a co-activator to the  $\beta$ -catenin/TCF transcriptional complex under the mediation of BCL-9 protei n (Figure 1.2) is required for the

Figure 1.2  $\beta$ -catenin/TCF Transcriptional Complex in the Canonical Wnt Signaling pathway. The complex composes of TCF,  $\beta$ -catenin, BCL-9, and hPygo2. The PHD domain (in brown color) of hPygo2 interacts with HD-1 domain of BCL-9 and associates with the complex for Wnt signaling. NHD domain (blue color) of hPygo2 may contain strong transcriptional activity by recruiting unknown factors.

# β-catenin/TCF Transcriptional Complex



activation of canonical Wnt signaling pathway (Hoffmans et al, 2005; Städeli and Basler, 2005).

To evaluate the exact consequences associated with active Wnt signaling, Wnt target genes have been intensely researched in the last 20 years. These target genes include those that encode vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (Zhang et al., 2001) and fibroblast growth factors (FGFs) (Chamorro et al., 2005); cyclin D1 (Tetsu and McCormick, 1999) and MYC (He et al., 1998), both of which can regulate cell growth and proliferation; siamois (Carnac et al., 1996; Lemaire et al., 1995) and brachyury (Arnold et al., 2000; Smith et al., 1991), which regulate cell differentiation during embryonic development. Some Wnt signaling pathway components such as Axin, Fzl, LRPs, and TCFs can also be target genes for autoregulating feedback (reviewed by Klaus and Birchmeier, 2008; http://www.stanford.edu/~rnusse/wntwindow.html). In Drosophila, the naked cutical (nkd) gene containing Wingless responsive elements (WREs) was well characterized not only as a target gene activated by Wnt signaling but also as a feedback antagonist to regulate Wnt signaling (Chang et al., 2008; Zeng et al., 2000).

#### **1.1.2 Wnt Signaling in Development**

The Wnt signal transduction pathway plays evolutionarily - conserved and critical roles in animal development by controlling biological

- 7 -

programs of embryonic development and adult tissue homeostasis (Reviewed in Klaus and Birchmeier, 2008; Grigoryan et al., 2008).

The implications of Wnt signaling in embryonic development were mostly determined by the analysis of different animal embryos that contain gainor loss-of-function mutant Wnt proteins or pathway components. For instance, the Wingless (Wg, Wntl homolog in Drosophila) mutant fly embryos displayed abnormal patterning in the overlying ventral cuticle, similar to that observed in embryos with mutations on Wnt signaling components such as Dsh and Amadillo (the Drosophila homolog of  $\beta$ -catenin), suggesting that Wnt signaling is require for normal segmentation and polarity in Drosophila (Nüsslein-Volhard and Wieschaus, 1980). Xenopus embryos are also widely used as models to study the effects of Wnt signaling in vertebrate development. The injection of mRNAs that encode signaling positive regulators including Wnt1, Dsh, β-catenin or dominantnegative versions of GSK-3ß into the 4 celled embryo of Xenopus resulted in duplicated Axis formation (McMahon and Moon, 1989; Dominguez et al., 1995; Guger and Gumbiner, 1995; Behrens et al., 1996) whereas injections of pathway inhibitors such as Axin led to the loss of primary axis formation (Zeng et al., 1997; Behrens et al., 1998). These studies implied that dysregulation of Wnt signaling affected normal development of the body axis.

Wnt3a, one of the ligands that activate Wnt signaling, was

- 8 -

elucidated as a regulator for the posterior development of mouse embryos. It regulates axis patterning and presomitic mesoderm (PSM) formation, and directs the segmentation of presomitic mesoderm into somites by targeting the segment boundary determination genes Mesp2 and Ripply2 in the PSM (Dunty et al., 2008; Nakaya et al., 2005).

The roles of Wnt signaling in the specification and maintenance of stem cells in various adult organs were revealed in transgenic mice with conditional loss- or gain-of-function mutations of B-catenin. The affected tissues and organs included skin appendages (hair follicles and teeth), central nervous system, heart, bone, neural crest, eye, gastrointestinal tract, kidney, mammary gland, hematopoietic system and other organs (Reviewed in Grigoryan et al., 2008). For instance, transgenic mice containing loss-of-function mutant  $\beta$ -catenin displayed the formation of cysts instead of hair follicles by inhibiting the production of hair progenitor cells (Huelsken et al., 2001). More further analysis of gain-of-function mutation of B-catenin revealed increased hair cell progenitors and demonstrated that the Wnt signaling regulates the bulge stem cell of the hair follicle to specify the hair cell fate (Ito et al., 2007; Malanchi et al., 2008). In another example, mice with depleted TCF-4 completely lost the stem cell compartment of the small intestine (Korinek et al., 1998). Later research identified that Wnt signaling controls intestinal stem cell renewal, in cooperation with Bone

Morphogenetic Protein (BMP) signaling (He et al., 2004b).

Recent evidence implicated Wnt signaling in heart stem cell renewal and differentiation. For instance, the defective regeneration of zebrafish heart was observed following the inhibition of Wnt signaling by the inhibitor DKK (Stoick-Cooper et al., 2007). Another research group identified that the multipotent isl1(+)cardiovascular progenitors can differentiate into the three major heart cells including cardiac, smooth muscle, and endothelial cells (Moretti et al., 2006). More recent studies from the same lab demonstrated that Wnt signaling regulates the regeneration and differentiation of isl1(+) cardiovascular progenitor cells during cardiogenesis (Qyang et al., 2007). The activation of Wnt signaling by introducing Wnt-3a ligands into isl1(+) progenitor cells of the secondary heart field could inhibit the progenitor cell differentiation and thus result in the accumulation of isl1(+) progenitors. This inhibition effect on heart stem cell differentiation gave rise to a defective morphology of outflow tract (OFT) in the heart.

### 1.1.3 Wnt Signaling and Cancer

The previous section discussed the important roles of Wnt signaling in normal animal development. However, the desregulation of Wnt signaling is associated with a number of malignancies, such as colon cancer (de Lau et al., 2007; Hadjihannas et al., 2006), ovarian cancer (Boerboom et al., 2005), breast cancer (Benhaj et al., 2006), melanoma (Larue and Delmas, 2006; Murakami et al., 2001), and prostate cancer (Chen et al., 2004; Lu et al., 2009; Verras and Sun, 2006). Familial Adenomatous Polyposis (FAP), for example, is a hereditary disease with inactivating mutations of the human *APC* gene. Patients presenting with multiple pre-malignant lesions such as aberrant crypt foci and small polyps in the intestine (Gaspar et al., 2008; Powell et al., 1992; Seno et al., 2002) may develop into multiple colonic adenomas (Groden et al, 1991; Hinoi et al., 2007; Zauber et al., 2003). Polyps may also occur in the upper gastrointestinal tract and carcinomas may also develop in the brain and thyroid gland in patients.

Compared to FAP, <u>colorectal cancer</u> (CRC) is a more frequently occurring disease, and up to 85% of all sporadic CRCs contain loss-of-function mutations in the APC gene (Giles et al., 2003; Joyce and Pintzas, 2007; Segditsas and Tomlinson, 2006). These alterations, including insertions, deletions, and nonsense mutations in the *APC* gene give rise to the retention of  $\beta$ -catenin and deregulation of Wnt target genes. In addition, the gain-of-function mutations in  $\beta$ catenin itself and the inactivating mutations of axin have been identified in approximately 10% of the remaining CRCs and a few CRC cell lines (Webster et al., 2000), providing support of the hypothesis that mutations causing stabilized nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin may be sufficient for the development of colonic neoplasms. Activating mutations of the Wnt pathway are not restricted to CRCs. Upper gastrointestinal tumors, for instance, contain a high number of  $\beta$ -catenin mutations (Lynch et al., 2005; Ogasawara et al., 2006). Also, mutations occurring in the key mediator  $\beta$ -catenin itself are associated with neoplastic transformation in one subtype of epithelial ovarian cancer (Zhai et al., 2002), which will be discussed in the next section.

The identification of *Wnt1*, originally called *int-1*, as an oncogene in mouse breast tumors attracted researchers' interest to investigate the association of Wnt signaling with breast cancer. Different from other cancers, evidence is lacking to conclude that the deregulation of Wnt signaling in human breast cancers is entirely due to mutant APC, Axin or  $\beta$ -catenin (Howe and Brown, 2004; Ueda et al., 2001). A recent study on human breast cancer cell lines found accumulated  $\beta$ -catenin in nuclei and up-regulated expression of the Wnt target gene cyclin D1. The overexpression of multiple Wnt ligands and receptors observed in this study may account for the activation of Wnt signaling in human breast cancer cells (Benhaj et al., 2006).

#### 1.1.4 Wnt Signaling and Epithelial Ovarian Cancer

Carcinomas are referred to as cancerous epithelial tumors. Approximately 85%-90% of ovarian cancers are Epithelial Ovarian Carcinomas (EOC) (Auersperg et al., 2001; Landen et al., 2008), a deadly gynecologic malignancy that is derived from transformation of ovarian surface epithelial cells. Patients diagnosed with EOC are mostly at an advanced stage since early stage disease is usually asymptomatic, limiting the median survival time to less than 2 years (Jemal et al., 2007). EOC tumors become refractory to most available chemotherapy drugs and the recurrence rate is close to 100% (Christie and Oehler, 2006; Jemal et al., 2007). In addition, EOC is histologically categorized into at least 5 distinct subtypes: serous, mucinous, endometrioid, clear cell and undifferentiated. The undifferentiated epithelial ovarian carcinomas tend to proliferate and spread most quickly (Christie and Oehler, 2006).

Understanding the mechanism of this disease is important to improve treatment options. Although the Wnt signaling pathway plays an important role in many malignancies, such as colorectal cancer (Verma et al., 2003), breast cancer (Benhaj et al., 2006) and hepatocellular carcinoma (Kim et al., 2008), in EOC, only one cell line of endometrioid origin has been shown to display high levels of constitutive Wnt signaling (Kildal et al., 2005; Zhai et al., 2002). Cell lines derived from the other four EOC subtypes do not. These observations suggest that Wnt signaling is important only in one subtype of EOC tumors.

#### **1.2 Human Pygopus2 (hPygo2) in Epithelial Ovarian Cancer**

#### 1.2.1 Pygopus proteins and their functional domains

Pygopus is a component of the  $\beta$ -catenin/TCF transcriptional complex essential for activation of Wnt signaling pathway. The extreme similarities in phenotypes between Pygo mutants and other Wg signaling mutants resulted in the identification of the prototype Pygopus protein in *Drosophila* (dPygo) (Kramps et al., 2002; Parker et al., 2002; Thompson et al., 2002). A yeast-two-hybrid assay initially showed that the legless protein (*Drosophila* homolog of human BCL-9) interacted with Pygo (Kramps et al., 2002) and thus may link Pygo to  $\beta$ -catenin. Subsequent studies revealed that Pygo may function as an anchor for the nuclear retention of  $\beta$ -catenin which is mediated by Legless (Krieghoff et al., 2006; Townsley et al., 2004; Tolwinski and Wieschaus, 2004). Alternatively, a "Pygo->legless-> $\beta$ -catenin" chain protein complex was proposed by which Pygo and Legless conferred their co-activator function to  $\beta$ -catenin for activating Wnt gene transcription (Hoffman et al., 2005; Stadeli and Basler, 2005).

dPygo contains several conserved regions corresponding to its vertebrate counterparts. In *Xenopus*, two Pygopus isoforms,  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ - were found to be required for the development of the normal body axis (Belenkaya et al., 2002) and brain patterning (Lake and Kao, 2003). Human pygopus proteins have two versions, -1 and -2, abbreviated as hPygo1 and hPygo2 hereinafter (Figure 1.3). hPygo1 and hPygo2

- 14 -

Figure 1.3 Conserved domains of Pygopus proteins in different species. Top Panel: Pygopus proteins contain several conserved domains including the <u>Nuclear Localization Sequence</u> (NLS, green color), NHD domain (blue color), and PHD domain (brown red color) in different species such as *Drosophila*, *Xenopus, Mouse, and Human.* Bottom Panel: Conserved amino acid sequences among different species (Cited from Li et al., 2004. Cloning and developmental expression of mouse pygopus 2, a putative Wnt signaling component. *Genomics.* 84: 398-405).



0

YGL

YGL

YGL

YGI

YS

Ů

ð

ľ

196

TPO

TPC

TPC

TPC

NCH KEVNEN DEAVFCRSGCNFPFR ACEREVWEDQCAILCTASCQKWFR ACRSEVWEDQCAILCTASCQKWFR ACRSEVMEDQCAILCTASCQKWFR ACRSEVMEDQCAILCTASCQKWFR ISTAN VMEDQCAILCTASCQKWFR ACRSEVMEDQCAILCTASCQKWFR ACRSEVMEDQCAILCTASCQKWFR

mPygo2 43 hPygo1 37 hPygo2 43

xPygo 311

mPygol 339

mPygo2 325

hPygo1 341

hPygo2 327

Pygo

748

### **Conserved Domains of Pygopus Proteins in different species**

proteins, like dPygo, share several conserved domains. For example, at the Cterminus, they contain a highly conserved zinc-binding domain known as the <u>P</u>lant <u>H</u>omeodomain (PHD) finger. In Wnt signaling, the PHD of Pygopus directly interacts with HD1 domain of Legless/BCL-9 (Kramps et al., 2002). Four specific residues (corresponding to hPygo2: Met361, Thr362, Ala365, Leu369) within the PHD domain of Pygopus (Figure 1.4) are required for its association with BCL-9 to form the  $\beta$ -catenin/TCF transcription complex and thus functions as a coactivator in transmission of Wnt signals (Townsley et al., 2004).

The PHD finger motif was found in proteins that participate in chromatin remodeling (Aasland et al., 1995). Chromatin remodeling requires loosening and reorganizing the nucleosome structure, namely the histones and condensed DNA complex (Ausio et al., 2003). This may be achieved by modifications on Histone proteins such as the addition of methyl groups (methylation) or acetyl groups (acetylation) by the appropriate methytransferases, acetyltransferases and other chromatin remodeling factors to specific residues on exposed core histone tails (Sterner et al., 2000). For example, the SET1-type methyltransferase complex can promote the trimethylation of the histone H3 tail at lysine 4 (H3K4me3) (Sierra et al., 2006). The PHD fingers from a variety of chromatin remodeling proteins such as BPTF (Li et al., 2006), ING2/Yng1 (Pena et al., 2006), and RAG2 proteins (Ramon-Maiques et al., 2007) can specifically

**Figure 1.4 Structural domains of human Pygopus 2 Protein (hPygo2).** hPygo2 protein contains conserved domains including the NLS (green color), NHD domain (N-terminal, blue color), and PHD domain (C-terminal, brown red color). A *NPF* (Asn76, Pro77, and Phe78) motif in the NHD domain was found to have strong transcriptional activity. In the PHD domain of hPygo2, four amino acids in *Drosophila* corresponding to the residues (Met361, Thr362, Ala365, and Leu369) have been shown to be critical for its interaction with BCL-9 (Legless in *Drosophila*) protein and required for Wnt gene transcription and embryonic development.
Human Pygopus 2 Protein



and selectively bind to the lysine 4 trimethylated histone H3 tail. Interestingly, a complex consisting of the PHD of Pygo and HD1 of BCL9 can specifically bind to H3K4me3, suggesting that this interaction may link chromatin remodeling with Wnt target gene transcription (Fiedler et al., 2008).

Other conserved domains of Pygopus are the N-terminal homology domain (NHD), adjacent to an N-terminal Nuclear Localization Sequence (NLS) (Li et al., 2004; Stadeli and Basler, 2005). The NHD and NLS domains are linked to the C-terminal PHD finger region by a long proline-rich non-conserved domain. Wnt target gene transcription not only depends on the interaction of Pygo PHD with legless/BCL-9 to form the Pygo>BCL9> $\beta$ -catenin>TCF transcriptional complex, but also requires the regulation of a functional NHD domain. The NHD domain exhibits strong transcriptional activity dependent on a conserved NPF tripeptide (Asn76, Pro77, and Phe78) (Figure 1.4) and site-mutations within this NPF motif abolishes its transcriptional activity *in vitro* as well as dramatically decreases Wnt signaling *in vivo* (Stadeli and Basler, 2005). The mechanism by which the NPF motif confers transcriptional activity to the NHD, however, is lacking.

Several possibilities were discussed recently for the activity of the NHD. Firstly, it was reported by de la Roche and Bienz (2007) that Pygo constitutively associated with dTCF in *Drosophila* tissue cultured cells and salivary glands which depended on the NHD of Pygo but not on legless. These

- 18 -

researchers also modified the former accepted model of TCF transcriptional machinery and proposed that Pygo associated with dTCF at the "off" stage of Wnt signaling and indirectly brought  $\beta$ -catenin in a legless-dependent manner to dTCF following Wnt stimulation.

A subsequent study identified that the Med12 and Med13 components, encoded by *skd* and *kto* genes in *Drosophila*, are required for Wnt target gene transcription. These two components are subunits of the mediator complex crucial for the RNA polymerase II-dependent gene transcription. *skd* and *kto* mutant flies displayed absent expression of Wnt target genes even when the constitutively active form of Armadillo (Drosophila homolog of  $\beta$ -catenin) was expressed, suggesting that these two genes functioned as further downstream components of  $\beta$ -catenin in Wnt signaling. This study also demonstrated that Med12 and Med13 were required for the transcriptional activity of Pygo NHD. The indirect interaction of Med12, 13 with the Pygo NHD determined by GSTpulldown and coimmunoprecipitation assays suggested that there may be some intermediate factors connecting the Med 12&13 to the Pygo NHD (Carrera et al., 2008).

Direct interaction between the Pygo NHD and the ETO domain of TAF4 was demonstrated in early 2009. TAF4 is a subunit within the TFIID complex of the basal transcription machinery. The TFIID complex, composed of TATA-binding protein (TBP) which has promoter recognition activity and TBPassociated factors (TAFs) with co-activator functions, can bind to the promoter and enhancer regions of DNA and assist the initiation of RNA polymerase IIdependent transcription. The well established Wnt target gene *nkd* was used to reflect the activation of Wnt signaling and deletion mutation analysis of TAF4 identified the ETO domain at the N-terminal region of TAF4 was required for *nkd* expression under Wnt stimulation by an active form of Armadillo (Wright and Tjian, 2009).

#### 1.2.2 hPygo2 is required for EOC growth in the Absense of Wnt Signaling

As mentioned in section 1.1.4, EOC can be divided into 5 histological subtypes. While Wnt signaling is restricted mainly to the endometrioid subtype (Kildal et al., 2005; Zhai et al., 2002), hPygo2 is unexpectedly overexpressed in all subtypes of EOC (Popadiuk et al., 2006) (Figure 1.5). hPygo2 is overexpressed in six malignant EOC cell lines and in the nuclei of 82% of 125 archived patient EOC tumors as compared to immortalized normal ovarian surface epithelial cells or benign disease tissues. These EOC cell lines and tumor tissues were derived from all 5 histological subtype origins including not only the Wnt-active (endometrioid) subtype but Wnt-inactive (other subtypes) origins. Furthermore, the depletion of hPygo2 protein in the EOC cell lines halted cell growth,

**Figure 1.5 A. EOC subtypes and EOC cell lines.** EOC has 5 major histological subtypes: endometrioid, clear cell, serous, mucinous, and undifferentiated. Cell lines including TOV-112D, TOV-21G, SKOV-3, ES-2, and OV-90 were derived from and represent each of these subtypes, respectively. Constitutive activation of Wnt signaling is only restricted to one subtype (endometrioid). All the other subtypes exhibit either very low level or inactive Wnt signaling properties. **B. The protein expression of hPygo2 in EOC cell lines (Immunoblot).** hPygo2 protein is overexpressed in all Wnt-active and Wnt-inactive EOC cell lines comparing to non-malignant human ovarian surface epithelial cells. (Popadiuk et al., 2006)





suggesting its requirement for cancer growth regardless of Wnt signaling status (Popadiuk et al, 2006). An hypothesis was then proposed in which hPygo2 might play essential roles in EOC, independent of Wnt signaling.

The notion that Pygopus has roles in the absence of, or independently of Wnt signaling was supported by experiments in embryonic development. Wntindependent roles of Pygo2 in lens development were revealed using a conditional Pygo2 knockout mouse model (Song et al., 2007). It was observed that deprivation of Pygo2 caused a microophthalmia phenotype by reducing expression of the Pax6 gene required for lens development in the Pygo2<sup>-/-</sup> null mice. Since the conditional deletion of  $\beta$ -catenin in mice did not produce similar lens defects to Pygo2<sup>-/-</sup> null mice, the authors proposed that Pygo2 has crucial functions in lens development in a Wnt-independent manner (Song et al., 2007). These observations were consistent with previously published work in our lab in which the NHD of Pygo2 alone was able to restore eye and head patterning gene expression in Pygo2 deficient *Xenopus* embryos (Lake and Kao, 2003).

Thus, evidence from both cancer and embryonic development strongly suggest that Pygopus has functional roles which are independent of Wnt signaling. How these requirements are fulfilled mechanistically is not completely known.

#### **1.3 Purpose of the Thesis**

The purpose of my thesis was to investigate the role of hPygo2 protein in EOC cancer cells independent of Wnt signaling. The following three major objectives were proposed in my thesis to address the hypothesis that hPygo2 fulfils Wnt-independent functions in EOC via interacting with factors not related to Wnt signaling.

Objective 1). Determine the function of each domain of hPygo2 protein in EOC - cell proliferation in the absence of Wnt signaling.

Objective 2). Identification of hPygo2 interacting proteins in Wnt-inactive cell lines.

Objective 3). Characterization of the interactions between potential proteins and hPygo2

### CHAPTER 2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 2.1 Cell Culture

The epithelial ovarian cancer (EOC) cell line SKOV-3 and cervical cancer cell line HeLa were purchased from American Type Culture Collection (Manassas, VA). All the cells were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) (Gibco) supplemented by 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Gibco), 100 units/ml penicillin, and 100  $\mu$ g/ml streptomycin; and maintained in a humidified atmosphere with 5% CO<sub>2</sub> at a temperature of 37°C.

#### **2.2 Western Blotting**

Total proteins from tissue cultured cells were extracted in cell culture lysis reagent (CCLR) (Promega). Protein concentration was measured using the Bio-Rad assay reagent (Anon, 1991). Approximately 50µg of total cell lysate was loaded per sample onto a 10% SDS-denaturing polyacrylamide gel. Separated proteins were then transferred (blotted) to nitrocellulose membranes (Hybond-ECL<sup>TM</sup>, Amersham). Blots were probed using hPygo2 rabbit antisera (Hausenfeffer-3I4B) (Andrews et al., 2007) or anti-treacle IgY (Abcam) antibodies, and then visualized by enhanced chemiluminescence (Amersham). Blots were reprobed with either monoclonal anti-β-actin (Sigma) or polyclonal anti-ERK1 to further confirm the equal loading of total protein as described (Popadiuk et al., 2006).

#### 2.3 Cell Rescue Asssay

In brief, SKOV-3 cells were seeded in triplicate at a density of 4x10<sup>4</sup>/well in 12-well plates 24 hours prior to transfection of plasmid constructs (cloned in pCS<sup>2+</sup> vector) expressing either wildtype hPygo2 or hPygo2 mutants with mutations within the NHD or PHD domain, respectively (Figure 2.1A.). The next day, Phosphorothioate Antisense oligos hPy-ON8 (Invitrogen) (5'-C\*C\*T\*CTGGCCAGAAAC\*T\*T\*T-3'; \* represents a phosphorothioate bond) specifically targeting the 3' UTR of hPygo2 mRNA (Figure 2.1B) was transfected to deplete endogenous hPygo2 protein (Popadiuk et al., 2006). It contains phosphorothioate modifications on 3 mers of each end marked in bold dark font. The mismatched (5'-G\*C\*T\*TGAGCTAATCATT \*G\*T\*T-3') (Invitrogen) phosphorothioated oligos (MM oligos) which presumably are unable to bind hPygo2 mRNA and have no knockdown activity, were used as a negative control (Popadiuk et al., 2006). Cell growth was

were used as a negative control (Popadiuk et al., 2006). Cell growth was assayed by cell counting using a hemacytometer 24 and 48 hours after transfection of the Antisense or MM oligos. Cell numbers are the average from 3 independent experiments. Western blots were performed to determine the endogenous and exogenous hPygo2 protein levels. Rescuing

- 25 -

**Figure 2.1 A. Rescuing plasmids.** The DNA sequences of hPygo2 wild-type coding region were amplified and inserted into pCS<sup>2+</sup> plasmid vector. Sitemutations were made in the PHD or NHD domain of hPygo2 using this pCS<sup>2+</sup>/hPygo2 wildtype coding region plasmid as a template. All wildtype and mutant plasmids were used for the rescue assay. **B. Antisense Oligos for depleting hPygo2 protein.** Antisense Oligos hPy-ON8 specifically targeting 3'-UTR of hPygo2 mRNA were used to knockdown the endogenous hPygo2 expression in the rescue assay.



plasmids, Antisense and MM Oligos used in the cell rescue assay are shown in Figure 2.1A and B and described in detail below.

2.3.1 Plasmid constructs

All the plasmid constructs (Figure 2.1) were transfected at 150ng/well via Effectene<sup>®</sup> Transfection Reagent (Qiagen) as per the manufacturer's protocol.

pCS<sup>2+</sup> empty vector (as a negative control): generously provided by Dr.
 Dave Turner, the Department of Biological Chemistry, University of Michigan.

 pCS<sup>2+</sup>/hPygo2 coding region (as a positive control): Engineered by Phillip Andrews.

3) pCS<sup>2+</sup>/hPygo2 PHD mutant: Using pCS<sup>2+</sup>/hPygo2 as a template, two PHD mutants were generated by Quik-Change<sup>®</sup> XL Site-Directed Mutagenesis Kit (Stratagene). The first one contained a leucine to alanine alteration at position 369 within the PHD domain termed "hPygo2 L369A". The other one, named "hPygo2 T362A, A365V", had combinational two sites mutations in which the threonine residue at position 362 was altered to an alanine and the alanine residue at position 365 was changed to valine. The dual-site mutant was more efficient for abolishing the interaction with BCL-9 (see results section 3.1) and was therefore used for the rescue assay.

4) pCS<sup>2+</sup>/hPygo2 NHD mutant: The N-terminal homology domain (NHD) of Pygopus was previously shown to exhibit strong transcriptional potential a

- 27 -

dependent on a conserved NPF tri-peptide (corresponding to the amino acids Asparagine, Proline and Phenylalanine at position 76-78 of hPygo2) (Stadeli and Basler, 2005). Here also using pCS2+/hPygo2 wildtype as a template, these three residues at position 76-78 were all mutated into Alanines by QuikChange® XL Site-Directed Mutagenesis Kit (Stratagene).

#### 2.3.2 Antisense Oligonucleotides

Either phosphorothioated Antisense oligos hPy-ON8 or MM control oligos were transfected at a final concentration of 250nM via Effectene<sup>®</sup> Tranfection Reagent (Qiagen). Media were changed 24 hours after transfection.

#### 2.3.3 Experimental groups

All the experimental groups are indicated in Table 3.1. Group 1 and 2 are co-transfections of  $pCS^{2+}$  empty vector with either Antisense oligos hPy-ON8 or MM Oligos. Group 3 and 4, 5 and 6, and 7 and 8 are co-transfections of  $pCS^{2+}$  hPygo2 wildtype coding region,  $pCS^{2+}$  hPygo2 PHD mutant and  $pCS^{2+}$  hPygo2 NHD mutant respectively with either Antisense oligos hPy-ON8 or MM Oligos.

Co-Transfections Group Names	Rescuing plasmids	Oligonucleotides
1. EV+AS	pCS <sup>2+</sup> Empty Vector (EV)	Antisense oligos hPy-ON8
2. EV+MM	pCS <sup>2+</sup> Empty Vector (EV)	MM oligos
3. WT+AS	pCS <sup>2+</sup> /hPygo2 Wildtype Coding Region (WT)	Antisense oligos hPy-ON8
4. WT+MM	pCS <sup>2+</sup> /hPygo2 Wildtype Coding Region (WT)	MM oligos
5.PHD Mut 2+AS	pCS <sup>2+</sup> / hPygo2 PHD mutant 2 (T362A, A365V)	Antisense oligos hPy-ON8
6.PHD Mut 2+MM	pCS <sup>2+</sup> / hPygo2 PHD mutant 2 (T362A, A365V)	MM oligos
7.NHD Mut+AS	pCS <sup>2+</sup> / hPygo2 NHD mutant (NPF76-78AAA)	Antisense oligos hPy-ON8
8.NHD Mut+MM	pCS <sup>2+</sup> / hPygo2 NHD mutant (NPF76-78AAA)	MM oligos

### Table 2.1 Experimental groups of co-transfections

#### 2.4 Mass-spectrometry

#### **2.4.1 Production of GST-fusion Proteins**

DNA sequences encoding only the hPygo2 NHD or PHD domain were amplified using the following PCR primers: NHD---forward, 5'-GCGAATTCGTCCCCCACTCCATGGCCGCCTCG-3'; reverse. 5'-GCCTCGAGCCAAGGAATGGAGGGGGGCTGCAAC-3'; PHD--- forward, 5'-CGGAATTCATGGCTCCAAAGAAGAAGCGTAAGGTAC-3'; reverse. 5'-GCCTCGAGTCACCCATCGTTAGCAGCC-3'; and were inserted into EcoRI/XhoI restriction sites of the pGEX 4T-1 vector containing the Glutathione S Transferase (GST) tag. The resulting products were then mini-prepped using Wizard Plus SV Miniprep Kit (Promega) and sequenced using an Applied Biosystems 3730 DNA Sequencer (Sequencing performed by Dr. Elizabeth Perry in the Genomics and Proteomics (GaP) Facility, Memorial University). Plasmids pGex-4T-1-NHD and pGex-4T-1-PHD were transformed into BL-21 Codon Plus RP competent E.coli cells (Stratagene) and grown in 250 ml Luria-Bertani (LB) media supplemented with 50ug/ml ampicillin at 37 °C for nearly 3 hours. 0.1mM Isopropyl β-D-1-thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG) was added and the cells were allowed to grow an additional 3 hours for the production of GST fused proteins. The GST-fusion proteins were lysed from the BL-21 cells and collected in 1×PBS solution supplemented with 1×Protease Inhibitor (PI) and 0.1% Triton X-100.

#### 2.4.2 GST-pulldown assay

The rationale of the GST-pulldown assay is illustrated in Figure 2.2. The NHD or PHD domain of hPygo2 was fused into GST proteins respectively. The GST-Fusion-NHD or GST-Fusion-PHD protein was subsequently incubated with Glutathione Sepharose® 4B beads (Amersham) at 4°C for 1 hour according to the manufacturer's protocol. The beads were washed at least five times with GST pulldown buffer to avoid non-specific binding. Nuclear proteins were extracted from EOC SKOV-3 cells using the NE-PER<sup>™</sup> Nuclear and Cytoplasmic Extraction kit (Pierce) and incubated with previous GST protein-containing beads for 3 hours. After washing the beads 10 times with buffer, proteins bound to the beads were resolved and separated by 10% SDS-PAGE. Gels were then stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue (Sigma) followed by destaining in destain-buffer and visualized with a digital camera to analyze the protein bands.

#### 2.4.3 In-gel digestion and Mass-spectrometry

The basic principal for protein identification by mass-spectrometry is that: 1) Each sample protein is digested and cleaved into smaller peptides; 2) Peptides are then ionized and selected peptides are fragmented to produce mass spectra while some of these peptides do not ionize. Other peptides are fragmented multiple times to generate multiple mass spectra; 3) Acquired

- 31 -

**Figure 2.2. Diagram of GST pulldown assay.** GST-Fusion Proteins were immoblized onto Glutathione Sepharose 4B beads and incubated with cell lysates, nuclear extraction proteins, or in vitro translated radiolabelled proteins to allow the interacting-proteins to bind. After washing the beads, bound proteins were eluted and loaded on SDS-PAGE and subsequently identified by Immunoblot or Mass Spectrometry.



mass-spectra are searched in a peptide sequence database; 4) The list of matched peptides is used to identify corresponding proteins. (Reviewed in Topaloglou, 2006)

Differential bands representing differential proteins pulled down by GST-NHD or GST-PHD fusion proteins were compared and bands of interest were excised into silicon tubes. Proteins in each band were digested via the Trypsin Profile IGD kit (Sigma). The digested peptides were extracted in 0.1% trifluoroacetic acid and 50% acetonitrile, dried by Speed-Vacuum Method and identified by a Dionex Ultimate 3000 HPLC coupled with an Applied Biosystem QSTAR XL MALDI-TOF mass-spectrometry (Performed by Ms. Lidan Tao at the Genomics and Proteomics (GaP) Facility, Memorial University). Mass-Spectrometry results were analyzed by Analyst (Applied Biosystem) and MASCOT software and the best matching candidate proteins were profiled from Pubmed protein database.

#### 2.5 Characterizing protein-protein interactions

#### 2.5.1 Immunfluorescence(IF) microscopy

IF was performed as described (Popadiuk et al., 2006). Briefly, cells grown on glass chamber slides were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (30 minutes) followed by 2×washes with PBS and 3×washes with 0.2% Triton-X 100/PBS (0.2% TPBS). Fixed cells were blocked in 5% normal goat serum (NGS) for 30 minutes and incubated with primary Antisera (diluted in 1.5% normal goat serum/PBS) overnight. Cells were washed for 30 minutes in 0.2% TPBS and then incubated with secondary antibodies. 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) was used for nuclear staining. For biotinylated secondary antibody, samples were incubated with fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-Streptavidine for 30 minutes at room tempreture. Lastly, stained cells were washed 3 times in 0.1% TPBS with 10 minutes each time, mounted in 10% glycerol/PBS and viewed under fluorescence microscopy.

#### 2.5.2 Co-Immunoprecipitation (Co-IP) assay

The Co-IP assay is a common method utilized for verifying protein-protein interactions. Typically, complexes encompassing protein of interest and its interacting proteins in cell lysates are captured by specific antibodies against the protein of interest, which are then immobilized on Protein A or G affinity beads. The interacting proteins are subsequently elucidated by immuno-blot or Mass-spectrometry.

For this experiment (Figure 2.3), SKOV-3 cell monolayers at 90% confluence were washed with PBS and lysed in 1×Triton Media (1×TM) with 1×PI/PMSF. They were then extracted in cell lysates and incubated with antibodies overnight at 4°C. The next day, Protein A or G Sepharose<sup>TM</sup> CL-4B (GE Healthcare) beads were added and incubated for one hour at 4°C followed by 10 times washes with 1×TM. Beads were spun down and bound proteins were subsequently resolved in 2×SSB and loaded on 8% SDS-PAGE. Specific interacting proteins were probed using primary antibodies and detected by enhanced chemiluminescence (Amersham).

**Figure 2.3 Diagram of Co-immunoprecipitation Assay.** 1. Incubate the antibody against protein of interest with cell lysates; 2. Immobilize the antibody, protein of interest, and interacting protein complexes onto protein A/G beads; 3. Wash the beads to eliminate non-specific binding proteins; 4. Elute binding proteins and immunoblot the interacting protein.



#### 2.5.3 GST-pulldown assay with in vitro translated radiolabeled proteins

The rationale of the GST-pulldown assay was discussed in section 2.3.2, Figure 2.2. For this experiment, successive deletion fragments of hPygo2 were PCR amplified (except GST-NHD32-47aa) and inserted into the EcoRI and XhoI sites of pGex4T-1(Figure 2.4). PCR primers used in the construction of hPygo2 deletion fragments are listed in Table 2.1. For the GST-NHD32-47aa, two oligonucleotides were directly annealed and formed double-stranded DNA fragments containing a 5' EcoRI site and a 3' XhoI overhang which can be inserted into pGex4T-1 vector. The above plasmid constructs were then used to produce corresponding GST-fusion proteins.

Complementary full-length protein or fragments of specific domains which were identified to interact with hPygo2, were synthesized and radiolabeled using in vitro transcribed/translated TnT SP6 System kit (Promega) and incubated with previous GST-Fusion proteins. Bound proteins were isolated by SDS-PAGE and in vitro translated proteins were detected using autoradiography instead of immunoblots.

**Figure 2.4 GST fused successive deletion fragments of hPygo2 protein.** Successive deletion fragments of hPygo2 were PCR amplified and inserted into pGex 4T-1 vector. 1: empty vector that only produces GST tag protein; 2: GST-fused PHD domain; 3: GST-Central (non-conserved) domain; 4 to 7: GST-NHD, GST-NHD1-47aa, GST-NHD32-47aa, and GST-NHD48-95aa fusion proteins, respectively.



Construct	Forward Primer	Reverse Primer
2. PHD	5'-CGGAATTCATGGCTCCAAAGAAGAAGCGTAAGGTAC	5'-GCCTCGAGTCACCCATCGTTAGCAGCC
3. ANAP	5'-CGGAATTCGCATCCAACCCTTTTGAAGATGAC	5'-CGGTCGAGTCAGCCAGGGGGGTGCCAAGCTGTTG
4. NHD	5'-GCGAATTCGTCCCCCACTCCATGGCCGCCTCG	5'-GCCTCGAGCCAAGGAATGGAGGGGCTGCAAC
5. NHD1-47aa	5'-GCGAATTCGTCCCCCACTCCATGGCCGCCTCG	5'-GCCTCGAGCTTCCTTCGCTTCTTTTCTGGACTC
6. NHD32-47aa	5'-AATTCAAGCAGGGCAAGGCCGGTCTGCAAAT-	5'-TCGAGCTTCCTTCGCTTCTTTTCTGGACTCTTC-
	GAAGAGTCCAGAAAAGAAGCGAAGGAAGC	ATTTGCAGACCGGCCTTGCCCTGCTTG
7. NHD48-95aa	5'-GCGAATTCTCAAATACTCAGGGCCCTGCATAC	5'-GCCTCGAGCCAAGGAATGGAGGGGCTGCAAC

 Table 2.2 Primers used for amplifying successive deletion fragments of hPygo2

#### 2.5.4 Actinomycin D (AMD) treatment

HeLa cells were seeded in chamber slides and grown overnight in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) (Gibco) supplemented by 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Gibco), 100 units/ml penicillin, and 100 µg/ml streptomycin; and maintained in a humidified atmosphere with 5% CO2 at a temperature of 37°C. Next day, cells were treated with medium containing 50ng/ml AMD for 2 hours at 37°C and analyzed by indirect immunofluorescence microscopy. Cells treated with medium containing Ethanol (vehicle for AMD) were used as controls.

## CHAPTER 3 RESULTS

The hPygo2 protein was originally identified as an essential comediator in the canonical Wnt signaling pathway. It was later found overexpressed in and required for not only Wnt-active but also Wnt-inactive EOC cell growth (Popadiuk et al., 2006). The purpose of my thesis is to determine what is(are) the role(s) of hPygo2 in EOC cells in the absence of Wnt signaling. To this end, three objectives were proposed in my thesis: 1) determine which specific domain(s) of hPygo2 is(are) required for Wnt-inactive EOC cell growth using the cell rescue assay; 2) identify potential proteins interacting with this domain via proteomics technology; 3) characterize the interactions between potential proteins and hPygo2 which are critical for EOC growth in the absence of Wnt signaling.

#### **3.1 Cell Rescue Assay**

Previous studies used cell rescue assays to demonstrate the specificity of the requirement of hPygo2 for EOC cell growth (Popadiuk et al, 2006). Cell growth, as determined by EOC cell number, was significantly reduced when the level of hPygo2 was reduced by the transfection of phosphorothioated antisense oligonucleotides (oligos), which specifically targeted the non-coding sequences of hPygo2 mRNA. Cell growth arrest was prevented by the co-transfection of plasmids expressing wild-type hPygo2 protein.

In an attempt to isolate which domain(s) of hPygo2 is (are) required for Wnt-inactive EOC cell growth, I performed similar rescue experiments but cotransfected mutant hPygo2 plasmids in which critical residues within the NHD or PHD domains were altered. From these experiments, the requirement of the domain(s) of hPygo2 for EOC cell proliferation could then be determined depending on whether or not mutations introduced in this domain disrupt the ability of hPygo2 to restore growth from hPygo2-depleted SKOV-3 (Wnt-inactive) cells. In addition, the proline-rich domain linking the NHD to PHD of hPygo2 is not conserved among different species and has not exhibited any significant function in development and cancer. Therefore no mutant plasmids originating from this domain were involved in the cell rescue assays.

#### 3.1.1 hPygo2 PHD mutant can not bind human BCL-9 protein

The Plant Homeodomain (PHD) of Pygopus directly interacts with the HD1 domain of Legless/BCL-9 (Hoffmans and Basler, 2004; Townsley et al., 2004), and functions as a canonical Wnt signaling-dependent co-activator for the  $\beta$ -catenin/TCF transcription machinery. Recent evidence also indicated that a complex comprised of the PHD of Pygo and HD1 of BCL-9 can specifically bind to methylated lysine 4 residues on histone H3 tails suggesting its involvement in the initiation step of Wnt target gene transcription (Fiedler et al., 2008).

Specifically, four residues (corresponding to hPygo2: Met361, Thr362, Ala365, Leu369) in the PHD domain were essential for the interaction of the PHD with BCL-9 in the  $\beta$ -catenin/TCF transcriptional activation complex (Townsley et al., 2004). Other than this association, very limited functions were demonstrated for the PHD.

Because of their importance for the function of the PHD, the four critical residues within the PHD were selectively altered to generate hPygo2 PHD mutant proteins that were unable to bind BCL-9. A single-point mutant in which Leucine at position 369 was converted to Alanine (hPygo2-L369A) and a double-site mutant in which Threonine at position 362 and Alanine at 365 were altered to Alanine and Valine respectively (hPygo2-T361A, A364V), were made as described in section 2.4.1. To validate whether these mutants abolished the association with BCL-9, GST-pull down assays were performed using GST-fused above mutant proteins to test interactions with in vitro translated radiolabeled human BCL-9 proteins (hBCL-9). As shown in Figure 3.1, the GST-fused wildtype hPygo2 protein (lane 4) interacted with radiolabeled hBCL-9. This level of interaction was substantially diminished to approximately 50% after introducing the L369A mutation (lane5). In contrast, the Pygo2-T362A, A365V mutant had completely lost the potential to bind BCL-9

Figure 3.1 GST Pulldown Assay: GST-PHD double point mutant abolished the interaction with human BCL-9(hBCL9). Lane 1: 10% input of in vitro translated radiolabeled hBCL-9 protein (MW: approximately 170KDa); Lane 2 and 3: GST alone and GST-NHD fragment proteins incubated with radiolabeled hBCL-9; Lane 4, 5 and 6: GST-hPygo2 wildtype, GST-hPygo2 L369A single point mutant and T362A, A365V dual-site mutant incubated with radiolabeled hBCL-9 respectively.



(lane 6). Therefore, DNA sequences encoding the latter dual-site PHD mutant protein were subcloned into the  $pCS^{2+}$  expression vector and co-tranfected with hPy8-ON Antisense oligos to determine if it could rescue growth arrest in SKOV-3 cells (see sections 2.4.1 and 2.4.3 for the experimental design and section 3.1.3 for the cell rescue assay results).

# 3.1.2 Amino acid substitution of NPF to AAA abolished the transcriptional activity of hPygo2 NHD domain

The N-terminal homology domain (NHD) of Pygopus exhibits strong transcriptional potential (Stadeli and Basler, 2005). A conserved NPF tripeptide within the NHD (corresponding to the amino acids Asn76, Pro77, and Phe78 of hPygo2) was shown to be an essential motif for this activity, since sitemutations within this motif resulted in substantial abolishment of transcriptional potential *in vitro* as well as a dramatic decline of Wnt signaling *in vivo*. Apart from this transcription potential very little activity of the NHD region was reported.

In order to investigate whether the NHD was required for EOC growth, I mutated the NPF triplet motif of the NHD into three Alanine residues (NPF->AAA). As expected from previous studies (Stadeli and Basler, 2005), DNA tethered, Gal4 dependent transcription assays (performed in collaboration with P. Andrews, Appendix 1) showed that this NPF->AAA mutant was deficient in

transactivation activity. In these assays, the NPF->AAA NHD mutant fragment was fused to the GAL4 DNA binding domain (DBD), and its ability to stimulate transcription when co-transfected with the reporter plasmid, pFR-Luc was quantified in relative luciferase unit (RLU) values. It displayed approximately equal luciferase activity as compared to background obtained from Gal4DBD alone while the RLU values were increased over 2 fold when Gal4DBD-fused to wild-type NHD was expressed. These assays confirmed that the NPF motif is required for the transcriptional activity of the NHD of hPygo2.

## 3.1.3 A functional NHD domain is required for rescuing cell number decrease observed with Antisense treatment

Previous studies demonstrated the specific requirement of hPygo2 for EOC growth from the observation that wildtype hPygo2 had rescued cell growth (Popadiuk et al., 2006). In the present rescue experiments, co-transfecting the wildtype hPygo2 with the hPy8-ON Antisense Oligos was therefore included as a positive control. On the other hand, co-transfection of empty vector with the hPy8-ON Antisense Oligos was used as a negative control. The co-transfection of plasmids that encode either the hPygo2 PHD mutant or the NHD mutant proteins with Antisense oligos were individually compared (controlled) by co-transfecting them with Mismatched (MM) Oligos as the MM Oligos had no effect on hPygo2 protein levels and cancer cell growth (Popadiuk et al, 2006).

Prior to determining the effects of these rescuing plasmids on cell growth arrest, western blots were performed not only to confirm that hPy8-ON Antisense oligos were able to deplete endogenous hPygo2 protein, but also to verify that the hPygo2 wildtype or mutant proteins were sufficiently expressed. As shown in Figure 3.2A, the levels of endogenous hPygo2 protein were significantly decreased by the co-transfection of  $pCS^{2+}$  empty vector (EV) with the hPy-ON8 Antisense Oligos (lane 1) as compared to the  $pCS^{2+}$  EV plus mismatched (MM) control oligos (lane 2). On the other hand, the loss of endogenous hPygo2 protein following Antisense treatment was compensated by the largely exogenous expression of hPygo2 wildtype (lane 3), PHD mutant (lane 5) or NHD mutant proteins (lane 7). Moreover, the hPygo2 wildtype (lane 4), PHD mutant (lane 6) or NHD mutant proteins (lane 8) were also significantly expressed when cotransfected with MM oligos.

The cell rescue assay results are shown in Figure 3.2B. Consistent with previous studies, the co-transfection of  $pCS^{2+}$  EV with hPy8-ON displayed nearly 30% reduction (P<0.01) in the number of SKOV-3 cells 48 hours after transfection and about 20% reduction (P<0.01) after 72 hours (lane 1) as compared with the control treatment ( $pCS^{2+}$  EV plus MM oligos, lane 2). This implied that  $pCS^{2+}$  EV, as the negative control, was unable to recover cell growth from hPygo2
Figure 3.2A. Western blot for rescue assay. Cell lysates were extracted 48hours after co-transfection. hPygo2 protein was detected with hPygo2 polyclonal rabbit antisera (about 50KDa).  $\beta$ -actin (47KDa) was re-probed to confirm the equal loading of total proteins. B. Cell Rescue Assay. Cell numbers counted in all the Antisense experimental groups were normalized by corresponding MM control groups. Colomns are the averages of three experiments repeated in triplicate; Bars, standard deviation. Unpaired t test were performed to determine statistical significance. A single star (P<0.05) indicates significant difference and a double star (P<0.01) indicates very significant difference between the Antisense experimental groups and corresponding MM control groups.



knockdown.

The co-transfection of  $pCS^{2+}/hPygo2$  wildtype plasmids with hPy-ON8 Antisense Oligos resulted in no significant difference (approximately 5% at 48 hours, P=0.20; and 8% at 72 hours, P=0.14) in SKOV-3 cell numbers (lane 3) in contrast to that of corresponding controls ( $pCS^{2+}/hPygo2$  wildtype plus MM oligos, lane 4).

Similar results were observed when hPygo2 PHD mutant protein (lane 5) was expressed after antisense treatment. There appeared to be either slightly (nearly 3%, P=0.82) more cells at 48 hours or slightly fewer cells (not statistically significant, P=0.43) at 72 hours in relation to control treatment ( $pCS^{2+}/hPygo2$  PHD mutant plus MM oligos, lane 6),indicating that mutations on the critical residues within the PHD did not affect its ability to reverse the decrease in EOC cell numbers following antisense treatment. Thus, while the PHD domain is required for the interaction of Pygo with BCL-9, it is unlikely required for EOC cell growth, at least in the Wnt-inactive SKOV-3 cells.

When hPygo2 NHD mutant proteins were co-transfected with antisense oligos into SKOV-3 cells, there were significantly fewer cells remaining (18% at 48 hours, P<0.05; 29% at 72hours, P<0.01; Figure 3.2B, lane 7) as compared to those cells transfected with control reagents ( $pCS^{2+}/hPygo2$  NHD mutant plus MM oligos, lane 8). These findings indicate that mutation of the NHD, but not the PHD disabled the ability of exogenous hPygo2 to restore SKOV-3 cell numbers reduced by depletion of endogenous hPygo2.

## **3.2 Proteomics**

The cell rescue assays described previously (Section 3.1) demonstrated the requirement of the NHD of hPygo2 protein for SKOV-3 cancer cell growth. It is possible that mutation of the NPF motif within the NHD prevents interaction of Pygo with other proteins, and that these interactions are essential for cell growth. To begin testing this hypothesis, proteomics experiments were performed to identify candidate NHD-interacting proteins. These analyses were performed in collaboration with Phillip Andrews and Keelia Farrell.

Our approach was to couple glutathione-S-transferase (GST)pulldown assays with Mass-spectrometry. In brief, GST alone, GST fused to the NHD (GST-NHD), GST fused to the NHD mutant (GST-NHD NPF->AAA), or GST fused to the PHD (GST-PHD) were immobilized into Glutathione Sepharose beads individually and then used to probe nuclear fraction proteins of SKOV-3 cells. The nuclear proteins that specifically bound to GST-NHD, but not GST alone or GST-PHD beads, after stringent washes, were separated by SDS-PAGE and visualized by Coomassie Blue staining. The differential proteins pulled down by GST-NHD, but not GST-NHD NPF->AAA, indicate possible proteins that specifically associate with the NPF residues. These possible binding proteins were then digested, "in-gel", into peptides using the Trypsin Profile IGD digestion kit (Sechi and Chait, 1998) and analyzed by MALDI-TOF mass-spectrometry. MASCOT software was then used to identify peptide sequences and search matched candidate proteins from the protein database at www.pubmed.com.

Mass-spectrum analysis was repeated two times and no differential protein bands were visualized when comparing GST-NHD pulldown and GST-NHD NPF->AAA pulldown. However, comparing the proteins that interact with GST-NHD, but not GST alone or GST-PHD, identified a number of candidate proteins including RNA binding protein p68, RNA helicase II/Gu, Nop56, and Treacle, which are briefly described below. These proteins that potentially interact with the NHD domain were identified in both repeated experiments.

p68 is a member of the DEXD-box (Asp-Glu-Ala-Asp) family of RNA helicases involved in RNA metabolism such as RNA splicing and splicing site selection. It may also regulate gene transcription by binding to estrogen receptor  $\alpha$ , p53, RNA polymerase II, MyoD and CREB binding protein (CBP) respectively and thus stimulate their functions (Caretti et al, 2006; Bates et al, 2005; Guil et al, 2003; Liu 2002; Rossler et al, 2001; Rossow et al, 2003). Recent research has shown that p68 is overexpressed in colon cancer and can be a potential target for colon cancer treatment (Shin et al., 2007). The other study revealed that downregulating the p68 led to reduced splicing products of 32S prerRNA which demonstrated the involvement of p68 in ribosomal biogenesis (Jalal et al, 2007). RNA Helicase II/Gu is also a member of the DEAD-box family of proteins related to p68 and p72 RNA helicases. In addition to its involvement in RNA unwinding and RNA folding, it was shown to interact with c-Jun and stimulate c-Jun-mediated gene activation (Valdez et al., 2002). It was later found to participate in rRNA processing since siRNA mediated knockdown of RNA Helicase II/Gu caused significant inhibition of 28S and 18S rRNA production. This participation was also evident through functional interaction with ribosomal protein L4 (Yang et al, 2005).

Nop56 is one of the four core small nucleolar ribonucleoproteins (snoRNPs) besides fibrillarin, Nop58 and 15.5 KDa proteins. They belong to the box C/D class of snoRNPs which direct the most common modification of ribosomal RNAs (rRNAs) known as 2'-O-Methylation (Gautier et al, 1997; Tran et al, 2003).

As a nucleolar phosphoroprotein, Treacle is encoded by *TCOF1* gene, which is mutated in individuals with hereditary Treacher-Collins Franceschetti syndrome (TCS), an autosomal dominant disorder of craniofacial development (reviewed in Dixon et al, 2007). It was found localized in the nucleolar compartment in HeLa cells, interacting with upstream binding factor (UBF, a critical transcription factor for RNA polymerase I) and required for ribosomal RNA synthesis (Valdez et al, 2004). A recent study also demonstrated its participation in pre-RNA methylation during ribosome biogenesis (Gonzales et al, 2005a).

In summary, our proteomic analyses suggested that the NHD of • hPygo2 may interact with a variety of nucleolar proteins encompassing p68, RNA helicase II/Gu, Nop56, and Treacle. Characterization of these interactions may contribute to reveal critical roles of hPygo2 in cancer cell proliferation.

### 3.3 Characterizing the Interaction between hPygo2 and Treacle

Nucleoli are subnuclear compartments where ribosomal RNAs (rRNAs), signal recognition particles as well as proteins involved in gene expression and cell proliferation are synthesized. It is the center of ribosomal biogenesis which involves the process of rRNA synthesis, maturation, and assembly of rRNA and ribosomal proteins into the large and small ribosome subunits (Scheer and Hock, 1999; Carmo-Fonseca et al., 2000). Many of the identified nucleolar proteins are associated with human diseases (Pederson, 1998; Visintin and Amon, 2000; Gonzales et al., 2005a, b).

In section 3.2, multiple nucleolar proteins were identified as highly probable candidates found in SKOV-3 nuclei that interact with the NHD of hPygo2. Among these candidates, Treacle protein was of particular interest due to its highest predicted possibility of interaction. This section will describe a series of analyses confirming the interaction of hPygo2 with Treacle and will begin to explore the possibility of hPygo2 participating directly in ribosome biogenesis.

The Treacle protein is encoded by the *TCOF1* gene. It is a nucleolar phosphoprotein, required not only for rRNA transcription by interacting with upstream binding factor (UBF) but also for early modification (methylation) of pre-rRNA (Gonsales et al, 2005a; Valdez et al, 2004). In humans, mutation of the *TCOF1* gene is associated with Treacher-Collins

- 54 -

Franceschetti syndrome (TCS) (Dixon et al, 2006), whereby affected individuals display an array of craniofacial defects (Dixon et al., 1997; Dixon et al., 2007; Isaac et al., 2000). The cellular origin of TCS is complex, but studies in mice indicate that *TCOF1* is required for rapid proliferation of neural fold cells during a critical time of brain growth. This growth requirement is considered to be linked to the role of TCOF1 protein (Treacle) in ribosomal biogenesis (Dixon et al., 2000).

The observations in TCS and in *TCOF1*-deficient mouse embryos are consistent with studies using  $pygo2^{-/-}$  mice (Li et al., 2007; Schwab et al., 2007; Song et al., 2007), and *Xenopus* embryos in which Pygo2 was depleted using antisense morpholino technology (Lake and Kao, 2003). These Pygo-defective embryos displayed head defects analogous to both humans with TCS and *TCOF1*-defective transgenic mouse models. Taken together with our proteomics data indicating that hPygo2 interacts with Treacle, these studies supported my hypothesis that hPygo2 may be involved in ribosomal biogenesis *in addition* to, or *in lieu* of its canonical role in TCF/β-catenin-mediated transcriptional activation.

The following sections are focused on characterizing the interaction of Treacle with hPygo2, followed by further investigation of the involvement of hPygo2 in ribosomal biogenesis. This involvement may generally exist in highly proliferative cells, such as EOC (Popadiuk et al., 2006)

- 55 -

and breast cancer cells (Andrews et al, 2007) in which hPygo2 was shown to be required for their malignant growth. Therefore, the following studies included both (EOC) SKOV-3 cells and the well-established cancer cell line-HeLa cells derived from cervical carcinoma.

#### 3.3.1 Treacle interacts with hPygo2 in vivo in SKOV-3 and HeLa cells

The physical interaction of Treacle and hPygo2 was further examined by co-immunoprecipitation (Co-IP) in SKOV-3 and Hela cells. Total SKOV-3 or Hela cell lysates were prepared and immunoprecipitated with hPygo2 polyclonal rabbit antisera (hPygo2 immune). The **CO**immunoprecipitated proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE and analysed for the presence of Treacle by immunoblotting with anti-treacle chicken antibody. As shown in Figure 3.3, hPygo2 immunoprecipitated endogenous Treacle proteins in SKOV-3 cells (lane 3) and Hela cells (lane 6). SKOV-3 or Hela cell lysates were directly loaded as inputs to show the presence of endogenous Treacle protein (lane 1 and 4). In contrast, pre-immune rabbit serum used at the same concentration as the immune antisera did not precipitate any Treacle protein from the SKOV-3 (lane 2) and Hela cell lysates (lane 5). The above results clearly demonstrated that Treacle and hPygo2 interact, in vivo, in SKOV-3 and HeLa cancer cells.

**Figure 3.3 Co-immunoprecipitation (Co-IP) assay for hPygo2 and Treacle in cancer cells.** SKOV-3, and HeLa cell lysates were incubated with either pre-immune rabbit serum or hPygo2 polyclonal rabbit antisera (hPygo2 immune). Co-immunoprecipitated proteins were blotted with chicken anti-Treacle IgY. **SKOV-3 cells**: lane 1, cell lysate input; lane 2, IP with pre-immune; lane 3, IP with hPygo2 immune. **Hela cells**: lane 4, cell lysate input; lane 5, IP with pre-immune; lane 6, IP with hPygo2 immune.



ļ

## 3.3.2 Treacle colocalizes with hPygo2 in the nucleoli of SKOV-3 cells

Treacle was identified by mass-spectrometry as a candidate that interacts with the NHD domain of hPygo2 protein. To verify this possibility, the subcellular localization of both proteins was analyzed by immunofluorescence microscopy. SKOV-3 cells were fixed and incubated with hPygo2 polyclonal rabbit antisera (hPygo2 immune) and anti-Treacle chicken (IgY) antibody. The secondary antibody for the hPygo2 antiserum was a biotinylated goat-anti-rabbit immunoglobulin G (IgG), detected using fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-linked Streptovidin. Cy3-conjugated to goat anti-chicken IgG was used to detect Treacle protein. Treacle was localized to nucleoli of SKOV-3 cells (Figure 3.4, red fluorescence) as expected (Valdez et al, 2004). hPygo2 (Figure 3.4, green fluorescence) was found colocalized in the nucleoli with Treacle. hPygo2 was also found in the perinuclear region of SKOV-3. **Figure 3.4. Treacle and hPygo2 colocalized in the nucleoli of SKOV-3 cells.** SKOV-3 cells were indirectly stained with antibodies against Treacle (chicken anti-Treacle IgY, red) and hPygo2 (hPygo2 polyclonal rabbit antisera, Green). 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) was used to indicate nuclear staining (blue). Scale bar, 10µm.



## 3.3.3 Mapping protein interaction domains

The previous sections provided evidence that hPygo2 interacted with Treacle in cancer cells: immunofluorescence revealed that both proteins colocalized to nucleoli and Treacle co-immunoprecipitated in cell lysates using antisera directed specifically against hPygo2. In this section, I described analyses where I used GST pulldown assays coupled with *in vitro* translated S<sup>35</sup> radiolabeled proteins to map the domains and/or regions required for the interaction between the two proteins. Mapping data is useful to determine the specific residues or protein sequence domains that are required for the function of the protein.

Deletion mapping was performed to determine the sites within the NHD that are required for its interaction with Treacle (Figure 3.5). A series of truncated DNA sequences encoding fragments of the NHD (within residues 1-95) were subcloned into pGex 4T-1 plasmid vectors. DNA sequences encoding the hPygo2 PHD (residues 312-406) or intermediate non-conserved domains ( $\Delta$ NHD $\Delta$ PHD) (residues 96-311) were also subcloned into the pGex 4T-1 vector to be used as negative controls. Corresponding GST-fusion proteins were produced as described as in section 2.5.3 (Figure 2.4 and Figure 3.5A).

A cDNA clone containing the coding sequence of human *TCOF1*, 5' and 3' untranslated regions (cDNA in pCMV-SPORT6 vector, Clone ID: 3921754) was purchased from Open Biosystems, Thermo Fisher Scientific,

- 60 -

Huntsville, AL. Radiolabeled full length Treacle was translated, *in vitro*, from this clone and then used to test all the GST-fusion proteins via autoradiography. It was loaded without incubation with any GST-fusion proteins as an input shown in lane 0 of Figure 3.5B. The result clearly showed that GST-NHD (Figure 3.5B, lane 4), but not GST alone, GST-PHD and GST- $\Delta$ NHD $\Delta$ PHD (lane 1, 2, 3 respectively), could pull down *in vitro* translated Treacle protein. In addition, GST fused to residues 1 to 47 (GST-NHD<sup>aa 1.47</sup>, lane 5) and residues 32 to 47 (GST-NHD<sup>aa 32.47</sup>, lane 6) of the NHD, but not GST-NHD<sup>aa 48-95</sup> (lane 7), were able to pull down Treacle protein. The minimal region within the NHD required for interaction with Treacle, therefore, was narrowed down from the whole NHD domain to the region encompassing amino acid residues 32-47.

Figure 3.5 Deletion mapping-GST Pulldown Assay. A. Schematic of the successive deletions of hPygo2 fused into GST. Approximately 1µg of each GST-fusion product was examined on the gel. B. The GST fusion products and in vitro translated Treacle protein were used for Pulldown Assay. <sup>35</sup>S labeled Treacle proteins which were pulled down can be presented in corresponded position by autoradiography. Lane 1: Treacle 20% input; Lane 2: GST; Lane 3: GST-PHD; Lane 4: GST- $\Delta$ NHD $\Delta$ PHD; Lane 5: GST-NHD; Lane 6: GST-NHD 1-47aa; Lane 7: GST-NHD 32-47aa; Lane 8: GST-NHD 48-95aa.







The above in vitro GST-pulldown assays suggested that Treacle can interact with a region consisting of 15 residues (residues 32-47) within the NHD domain of hPygo2. I next asked which region of Treacle is required for its association with hPygo2. To answer this question, DNA sequences encoding separate domains of Treacle were amplified using previous pCMV-SPORT6/*TCOF1* construct as a template, cloned into the pCS<sup>2+</sup> plasmid vector and translated *in vitro* into radiolabeled protein fragments. As shown in Figure 3.6B, multiple bands were detected for each *in vitro* translated protein fragment. One possible cause for the lower molecular mass proteins is due to partial protein degradation. Although multiple bands were detected, each uppermost (highest molecular weight) band is well matched to the expected size for each protein fragment.

The GST-NHD fusion proteins were immobilized into Glutathione Sepharose beads and incubated with the radiolabeled Treacle fragments in a GST-pulldown assay. As shown in Figure 3.6C, *in vitro* translated and radiolabeled full length Treacle (1-1411aa, lane 1), C-terminal (954-1411, lane 4) and C-terminal+ last partial central domains (667-1411aa, lane 6) are able to bind the GST-NHD. On the contrary, neither the N-terminal (1-290aa, lane 2) nor the central (291-953, lane 3) domains of Treacle as well as N-terminal+the first partial central region (1-666, lane5) can associate with GST-NHD. These results indicated that the C-terminal domain (954-1411aa) of

**Figure 3.6A.B. In vitro translated Treacle fragments.** Different fragments of Treacle domains (A) were in vitro translated, loaded on SDS-PAGE gel and visualized by autoradiography (B). This B panel represents 20% input for the GST pulldown shown in C. C. Interaction of the hPygo2 NHD domain and Treacle fragments- GST Pulldown Assay. The GST-NHD fusion protein was used to test all in vitro translated radiolabeled full length Treacle or Treacle fragments as below: lane1, Full-length Treacle; lane2, N-terminal domain; lane3, Central domain; lane4, C-terminal domain; lane5, N-terminal+first half Central domains; lane6, C-terminal+last 1/3 Central domains of Treacle.





С

Treacle protein is required for its interaction with the hPygo2 NHD.

# 3.3.4 hPygo2, Treacle and UBF co-segregated in Hela cells treated with Actinomycin D (AMD)

A great deal of detailed information on the structure and function of the nucleolus as the machinery for ribosomal biogenesis has accumulated for many decades (Olson, 2004). The nucleolar compartment contains three ultrastructural subregions: the core region termed the fibrillar centre (FC), the dense fibrillar component (DFC) surrounding the FCs, and the most outer layer termed granular component (G). The transcription of ribosomal DNA (rDNA) by RNA polymerase I mostly occurs either in the FC or at the border of FC and DFC (Boisvert et al, 2007; Huang, 2002). The synthesized ribosomal RNA (rRNA) precursors including the 47S and 45S pre-rRNA transcripts undergo modifications, which typically include methylation and pseudouridylation. The modified precursors are then cleaved into 28S, 5.8S or 18S rRNA products mainly within the DFC region by recruiting early processing factors known as snoRNPs. The late processing events take place at the outer most layers, the GC region where cleaved rRNAs are assembled with ribosomal proteins into ribosome subunits. Assembled ribosome subunits are subsequently exported into nucleoplasm and cytoplasm for generating ribosomes (reviewed in Boisvert et al, 2007).

- 65 -

The ultrastructural organization of the nucleolus is related to the transcriptional activity of RNA polymerase I which was demonstrated by Actinomycin D experiments (Shav-Tal et al., 2005; Unuma et al, 1973). Actinomycin D (AMD) is a chemotherapy drug that directly binds to rDNA and inhibits the transcriptional activity of RNA polymerase I. It is well established that AMD treatment causes nucleolar components within the fibrillar (FC and DFC) subregions to re-orient into nucleolar "caps", which segregate from the granular(GC) components (Shav-Tal et al., 2005). The change in the localization of a protein upon AMD treatment depends on the functional step with which it is involved during ribosomal biogenesis (Smetana et al, 2001; Unuma et al, 1973).

Upstream binding factor (UBF) combined with other basic RNA polymerase I factors form the transcriptional initiation complex with RNA polymerase I. Previous research used UBF as a contrast for investigating the localization of Treacle protein in HeLa cells with AMD treatment via immunofluorescence (Valdez et al, 2004). It has been shown that Treacle only co-segregated with upstream binding factor (UBF), but not with the rRNA processing factor RNA helicase II/Gua (one of the GC components), into the same subregion of nucleoli in HeLa cells treated with 50ng/ml AMD for 2 hours. This study therefore suggested that Treacle was more likely to act as a fibrillar component that facilitates rRNA transcription or early pre-RNA processing (modification) than functioning in rRNA late processing events such as splicing, cleavage or ribosome subunit assembly and export (Valdez et al, 2004). Later studies verified that Treacle was required for rDNA transcription and involved in pre-rRNA methylation (Gonzales et al., 2005a).

In this study, four nucleolar components including UBF, Treacle, Fibrillarin and B23 were used as markers to identify the subnucleolar localization of hPygo2. While UBF and Treacle represent transcription and prerRNA modification (methylation) factors (Valdez et al, 2004; Gonzales et al, 2005a), Fibrillarin is mostly involved in early splicing of pre-rRNA (Amin et al., 2007; Chen and Huang, 2001; Tollervey et al, 1991), which is localized in the DFC region of the nucleolus. In contrast, B23 protein as a GC component is only recruited in late processing events and ribosome subunit assembly (Smetana et al, 2001).

After AMD treatment (50 ng/ml AMD for 2 h) in HeLa cells, the above four markers were co-immunostained with hPygo2 individually and then viewed under confocal scanning fluorescence microscopy. As shown in Figure 3.7, hPygo2 colocalized with UBF, Treacle and Fibrillarin, but not B23 in the nucleoli of untreated HeLa cells. In AMD treated HeLa cells, hPygo2 cosegregated with Treacle and UBF to the same region at the nucleolar caps, which was distinct from Fibrillarin. B23 also re-localized to the nucleoplasm but was organized circumferentially around the nucleoli. It did not Figure 3.7. hPygo2 co-segregated with Treacle and UBF in the Hela cells treated with AMD. HeLa cells were treated with 50ng/ml actinomycin D for 2h, stained by indirect immunofluorescence and observed by confocal microscopy. Nucleoli (arrows) were shown in nuclei by Differential interference contrast (DIC) images. (A) Treacle (red) localization in untreated and treated cells is compared with hPygo2 (green); (B) UBF (red) localization in untreated and treated cells is compared with hPygo2 (green); (C) Fibrillarin (red) localization in untreated and treated cells is compared with hPygo2 (green); (D) B23 (red) localization in untreated and treated cells is compared with hPygo2 (green). Scale bar, 10µm.

co-segregate with any of the markers, including hPygo2. These results suggested that hPygo2 is localized to the fibrillar region (FC and DFC), but not the GC subcompartment of nucleoli.

Taken together with my results demonstrating strong interaction of hPygo2 with Treacle, these observations suggested that hPygo2 may be involved in ribosomal biogenesis by participating in either rDNA transcription or pre-rRNA modification.

## CHAPTER 4 DISCUSSION

hPygo2 protein is overexpressed and required for the growth of epithelial ovarian malignancies in the absence of Wnt signaling. Here in my thesis, I further identified that the N-terminal homology domain (NHD) of hPygo2, but not the Wnt-mediating PHD domain, is essential for the Wnt-independent EOC cell proliferation. In addition, I verified the strong interaction between the hPygo2 NHD region and the Treacle protein. These results suggest that one of the Wntindependent functions of hPygo2 is involved in ribosomal biogenesis.

## 4.1 Cell Rescue Assay

To investigate the potential roles of hPygo2 protein in the absence of Wnt signaling, I have conducted a cell rescue assay to determine which domain of hPygo2 is required for Wnt-inactive cell growth. In this assay plasmids expressing either hPygo2 or hPygo2 mutants were co-transfected with Antisense Oligos to observe whether they can recover the growth of hPygo2-depleted cells.

The SKOV-3 cell line represents a Wnt-inactive EOC cell line, and was used as a model for rescue assays and proteomics assays to investigate the Wntindependent mechanism of hPygo2 protein for cancer growth. One of the plasmids that rescued growth of Antisense Oligo-transfected cells was a version of hPygo2 that contains alterations on the critical residues required by hPygo2 to interact with lgs/BCL-9 within the PHD domain (Townsley et al., 2004). One possible caveat for using this plasmid in a rescue assay is that the critical residues may also be used by hPygo2 for its interactions with proteins besides BCL-9. Therefore, in the event that the PHD mutants could not rescue cell growth, I would not be able to distinguish whether it was due to the abolishment of the interaction with BCL-9 or with other, unknown proteins. However, this issue was largely abrogated since the rescue assay results indicated that the PHD mutant did efficiently rescue cell growth, similar to results obtained with the positive control-hPygo2 wildtype plasmid, suggesting that the interaction of hPygo2 with BCL-9 and its involvement in Wnt signaling are not necessary for EOC cell growth.

The same issue may also be applied to the NHD mutant rescuing plasmid. The rescue assay results, however, showed that the NHD domain containing alterations in NPF motif, which previously was shown to be required for the transcriptional activity of hPygo2 (Stadeli and Basler, 2005), substantially lack the ability to rescue SKOV-3 cell growth, suggesting that it is required for growth.

Another consideration with the rescue assay results is that the knockdown effects by Antisense Oligos hPy-ON-8 were not ideal (approximately 20%-30%) even they are statistically significant. It might because those AS Oligos

- 71 -

were targeted to 3'-untranslated region (UTR), and not the coding region, and may not be able to efficiently suppress hPygo2 mRNA. Alternatively, small interference RNAs (siRNA) or small hairpin RNAs (shRNAs) targeting hPygo2 mRNA could also be used to downregulate hPygo2 expression through a RNA interference pathway. (Chen et al., 2009; Hamilton and Baulcombe, 1999; Simpson et al., 2008)

The western blotting assay was used to determine hPygo2 protein levels. In these analyses, it was not possible to distinguish the endogenous from exogenous hPygo2 protein because they were expressed at the same size in the experimental groups 3-8 (Figure 3.3A, lane 3-8). Alternate approach would be to use an epitope-tag-containing vector (Chavand et al., 2001) instead of the pCS<sup>2+</sup> vector to construct rescuing plasmids and then the tagged-wildtype hPygo2 or tagged-mutant hPygo2 could be discerned from the endogenous protein by size or by an antibody specifically against the tag. However, the tag itself may affect the function of hPygo2 protein in cancer cells and therefore may significantly influence its rescuing ability. More tests using different tag-hPygo2 rescuing plasmids should be conducted.

## 4.2 hPygo2 Interacting proteins

The current understanding of the function of hPygo2 is that it is not

only a co-activator in the canonical Wnt signaling pathway but also a transcriptional regulator through Wnt-independent mechanisms (Hoffmans and Basler, 2004; Townsley et al., 2004; Popadiuk et al., 2006; de la Roche and Bienz, 2007; Song et al., 2007). The possibility of hPygo2 involvement in a Wnt-independent mechanism may due to transcriptional activity of its NHD. My cell rescue assay results suggested the importance of the NHD, especially the NPF motif, for EOC cell growth.

I hypothesized that there are factors that specifically bind to the NPF residues required for the function of hPygo2. The GST fusion proteins including GST-NHD or GST-NHD NPF-AAA mutant were used to probe nuclear extracts of SKOV-3 cells, and I attempted to determine the proteins that bound to the NPF. However, perhaps due to the limited separation rate of one dimensional small-sized SDS-PAGE gels and the low resolution of visualization by Coomassie blue staining, it was not possible to distinguish any protein bands that associated with the GST-NHD exclusive of the GST-NHD NPF-AAA mutant. Future experiments may involve the use of 2-dimension gel electrophoresis and/or staining approaches with higher resolution such as the silver staining method (Mortz et al., 2001).

Although I was not able to find NPF specific binding factors up to present, in collaboration with my colleagues, we nonetheless identified several candidate proteins using proteomics technology including p68, RNA helicase

- 73 -

II/Gu, Nop56, and Treacle that interacted with the NHD domain of hPygo2. p68 and RNA helicase II/Gu both belong to the DEAD box (Asp-Glu-Ala-Asp) family of RNA helicases (Cordin et al., 2006). p68 is increasingly expressed during benign to malignant transformation in the colon which is very similar to the upregulation of hPygo2 protein in EOC cells as compared to normal ovarian epithelial cells. p68 interacts with  $\beta$ -catenin directly and enhanced the ability of  $\beta$ catenin to activate Wnt target gene transcription, suggesting that p68 is very important for the activation of Wnt signaling in colon cancer (Shin et al., 2007). However, whether it interacts directly with hPygo2 in EOC has not been characterized. Furthermore, whether it plays the same crucial roles in the Wntinactive EOC cells as in the colon cancer, or whether its interaction with hPygo2 can promote oncogene transcription for EOC progression, needs to be resolved.

RNA helicase II/Gu is one of the nucleolar proteins whose function mainly involves RNA unwinding. It also has been identified as a cofactor for cjun-activated transcription (Valdez et al., 2002). It was reported to be involved in ribosomal RNA processing because its suppression by siRNA led to an 80% reduction in both 18S and 28S rRNA production. The underlying mechanism for this effect has not been identified (Yang et al., 2005). However, the function of RNA helicases Gu in ribosomal RNA processing may relate to another hPygo2 interacting protein-Treacle which was characterized in this thesis and it is possible that this Gu protein forms a complex with Treacle and hPygo2 to affect ribosomal biogenesis in cancer cells. Therefore, whether it is colocalized with hPygo2 and whether it interacts with hPygo2 to cooperatively regulate c-jun gene transcription and/or ribosomal RNA synthesis for cancer proliferation need to be further identified.

In addition, Nop56 is one of the core small nucleolar ribonucleoproteins (snoRNPs) belonging to the box C/D class of snoRNPs which direct the most common modification of ribosomal RNAs (rRNAs) known as 2'-O-Methylation (Gautier et al, 1997; Tran et al, 2003). Proteomic analyses from other studies identified the interaction of Treacle with Nop56 associated preribosomal complexes (Hayano et al., 2003). Therefore, verification of the association of hPygo2 with Nop56 will suggest its possible involvement in prerRNA modification (methylation).

Nucleoli are very important subcellular compartments for producing ribosomal RNAs, signal recognition particles and regulatory proteins involved in cell proliferation. Many nucleolar proteins can regulate mitosis, cell-cycle progression and proliferation, relating the nucleoli to human disease. Therefore, the colocalization of Treacle and hPygo2 in the nucleoli and their *in vivo* association as determined by Co-IP assays in SKOV-3 and HeLa cells raises the intriguing possibility that their interaction plays critical roles for cancer progression. I will discuss the significance of the interaction between hPygo2 and Treacle in the next section.

## 4.3 The Significance of Interaction between hPygo2 and Treacle

*TCOF1* encodes a nucleolar phosphoprotein called Treacle, which is mutated in patients with hereditary Treacher-Collins Franceschetti syndrome (TCS), an autosomal dominant, congenital craniofacial disorder. Most *TCOF1* mutations identified in TCS patients likely result in truncated treacle products because of the occurrence of premature stop codons. TCS is suggested to be caused by haploinsufficiency or dominant-negative effects, which result in loss-offunction and rapid digestion of truncated Treacle protein products (Dixon et al., 2007; Isaac et al., 2000).

The full length Treacle protein is spatiotemporally expressed in the neuroepithelium throughout the E8 stage and more strongly in the frontonasal and branchial arch mesenchyme at E9.5 in the mouse embryo (Dixon et al., 2006). It is required for the transcription of ribosomal RNA and the methylation of pre-rRNA in the growth of the developing anterior nervous system (Valdez et al., 2004; Gonzales et al., 2005a).

Similarly, mouse Pygopus2 (mPygo2) is expressed starting at day E7 and peaks at day E17 in the mouse embryo. It was observed within multiple regions in the developing brain with the strongest expression at the mesencephalon (Li et al., 2004). Moreover, mPygo2-/- mice have severe brain defects or exencephaly phenotypes (Schwab et al., 2007) which resemble those of TCOF-/+ embryos (Dixon et al., 2006). The interaction of Treacle and hPygo2 characterized in this thesis is consistent with interdependent roles in embryonic development. The requirement of treacle for ribosomal RNA transcription in development and cancer cell lines (Valdez et al., 2004) suggests the intriguing possibility that a Wnt-independent role of hPygo2 in cancer may relate to a role in Treacle-dependent rRNA transcription in development of the mammalian nervous system..

Further studies on the requirement of the interaction between Treacle and hPgyo2 proteins for EOC cell proliferation as well as head development are warranted.

## **4.4 Future Directions**

Studies in my thesis indicated that the NHD domain of hPygo2 was required for Wnt-independent cancer cell growth and Treacle was identified as an NHD-interacting protein. Therefore, in future studies, an initial experiment to perform would be one designed to determine the cell growth requirements of the hPygo2-Treacle interaction. The minimal residues in the NHD of hPygo2 required for its interaction with Treacle could be identified. Similarly, identification of the
minimal residues within the C-terminal domain of Treacle protein required for interacting with hPygo2 will be necessary. Mutations of either interaction sites will be used in cell rescue assays as previously described in section 2.1. The results will be able to indicate if the interaction between hPygo2 and Treacle is required for cancer cell proliferation.

Interestingly, the preliminary studies revealed that hPygo2 interacts with the C-terminal domain of Treacle from which most mutations in humans causing truncated proteins occurred. In addition, this domain is thought to be responsible for the nucleolar localization of Treacle protein (Winokur et al., 1998). Given the putative role for Pygopus as a nuclear "anchor" for transcriptional complexes (Townsley et al., 2004), it is possible that truncated treacle proteins resulting from C-terminal deletions fail to interact with Pygopus and therefore lose the ability to localize to nucleoli. Therefore, the requirement of the Pygo-Treacle interaction for retention of Treacle in the nucleoli should be evaluated. For instance, experiments could be designed to determine if the knockdown of hPygo2 protein by Antisense Oligos or siRNAs prevents the normal localization of Treacle protein in Pygo<sup>-/+</sup> transgenic mice.

Lastly, my immunofluorescence, co-IP and actinomycin D experiments showed that hPygo2 interacted with Treacle in cancer cells and co-

- 78 -

segregated with Treacle and UBF, but not fibrillarin or B23 following AMD treatment, suggesting that hPygo2 may be involved in rRNA transcription or early processing rather than late processing events. In order to determine if hPygo2 is involved in rRNA transcription, Antisense Oligos or siRNAs to knockdown hPygo2 can be transfected into SKOV-3 and HeLa cells. Production of rRNA could be determined by nuclear run-on-assays of the 45S pre-rRNA (Glibetic et al., 1995), pulse-chase metabolic labeling of pre-rRNA (Hennning et al., 2003), or by RNase protection assay (Yang et al., 1998). Moreover, to investigate possible roles of hPygo2 in pre-rRNA methylation, pre-rRNA methylation assays can be carried out as described (Gonzales et al., 2005a) following hPygo2 knockdown. In these assays, the reduction in pre-rRNA production or pre-rRNA methylation levels will be expected when cancer cells are transfected with hPygo2 antisense oligos or siRNA.

**Chapter5: Reference** 

## CHAPTER 5 REFERENCES

Aasland, R., Gibson, T.J., Stewart, A.F. (1995). The PHD finger: implication for chromatin-mediated transcriptional regulation. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 20, 56-59.

Akhtar, S., Kole, R., Juliano, R.L. (1991). Stability of antisense DNA oligodeoxynucleotide analogs in cellular extracts and sera. *Life Sci.* 49:1793 – 1801.

Amit,S., Hatzubai,A., Birman,Y., Andersen,J.S., Ben Shushan,E., Mann,M., Ben Neriah,Y., Alkalay,I. (2002). Axin-mediated CKI phosphorylation of beta-catenin at Ser 45: a molecular switch for the Wnt pathway. *Genes Dev.* **16**, 1066-1076.

Andrews, P.G., Lake, B.B., Popadiuk, C.M., Kao, K.R. (2007). Requirement of Pygopus 2 in breast cancer. *International Journal of Oncology*. **30**: 357-363.

Andrews, P.G., Kennedy, M.W., Popadiuk, C.M., Kao, K.R. (2008). Oncogenic activation of the human Pygopus2 promoter by E74-like factor-1. *Mol Cancer Res.* **6**(2), 259-66.

Anon. (1991). "Bio-Rad Protein Assay". Bio-Rad Catalog. p.60.

Arnold,S.J., Stappert,J., Bauer,A., Kispert,A., Herrmann,B.G., Kemler,R. (2000).Brachyury is a target gene of the Wnt/beta-catenin signaling pathway. *Mech Dev.* **91**, 249-58.

Auersperg, N., Wong, S.T.A., Choi, K., Kang, S.K., Leung, C.K.P. (2001). Ovarian Surface Epithelium: Biology, Endocrinology, and Pathology. *Endocrine Reviews*. **22**, 255-288.

Ausio, J., Levin, D., de Amorim, G., Bakker, S., Macleod, P. (2003). Syndromes of disordered chromatin remodeling. *Clin Genet.* **64**, 83-95.

Barker, N., Hurlstone, A., Musisi, H., Miles, A., Bienz, M., Clevers, H. (2001). The chromatin remodelling factor Brg-1 interacts with beta-catenin to promote target gene activation. *EMBO J.* **20**, 4935-43.

Bates, G.J., Nicol, S.M., Wilson, B.J., Jacobs, A.M., Bourdon, J.C., Wardrop, J., Gregory, D.J., Lane, D.P., Perkins, N.D., Fuller-Pace, F.V. (2005). The DEAD box protein p68: a novel transcriptional coactivator of the p53 tumour suppressor. *EMBO*. J. 24, 543-553

Behrens, J., von Kries, J.P., Kühl, M., Bruhn, L., Wedlich, D., Grosschedl, R., Birchmeier, W. (1996). Functional interaction of beta-catenin with the transcription factor LEF-1. *Nature*. **382**, 638-42.

Behrens, J., Jerchow, B.A., Würtele, M., Grimm, J., Asbrand, C., Wirtz, R., Kühl, M., Wedlich, D., Birchmeier, W. (1998). Functional interaction of an axin homolog, conductin, with beta-catenin, APC, and GSK3beta. *Science*. **280**, 596-9.

Benhaj,K., Akcali,K.C., Ozturk,M. (2006). Redundant expression of canonical Wnt ligands in human breast cancer cell lines. *Oncol Rep.* **15**, 701-7.

Belenkaya, T.Y., Han, C., Standley, H.J., Lin, X., Houston, D.W., Heasman, J., Lin, X. (2002). Pygopus Encodes a nuclear protein essential for wingless/Wnt signaling. *Development*. **129**, 4089-4101.

Boerboom, D., Paquet, M., Hsieh, M., Liu, J., Jamin, S.P., Behringer, R.R., Sirois, J., Taketo, M.M., Richards, J.S. (2005). Misregulated Wnt/beta-catenin signaling leads to ovarian granulosa cell tumor development. *Cancer Res.* **65**, 9206-15.

Boisvert, FM, van Koningsbruggen, S., Navascués, J., Lamond, A.I. (2007). The multifunctional nucleolus. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* **8**, 574-85.

Bhanot, P., Brink, M., Samos, C.H., Hsieh, J.C., Wang, Y., Macke, J.P., Andrew, D., Nathans, J., Nusse, R. (1996). A new member of the frizzled family from Drosophila functions as a Wingless receptor. *Nature*. **382**, 225-30.

Cabrera, C.V., Alonso, M.C., Johnston, P., Phillips, R.G., Lawrence, P.A. (1987). Phenocopies induced with antisense RNA identify the wingless gene. *Cell.* **50**, 659-63.

Caretti,G., Schiltz,R.L., Dilworth,F.J., Di Padova,M., Zhao,P., Ogryzko,V., Fuller-Pace,F.V., Hoffman,E.P., Tapscott,S.J., Sartorelli,V. (2006). The RNA helicases p68/p72 and the noncoding RNA SRA are coregulators of MyoD and skeletal muscle differentiation. *Developmental Cell*. **11**, 547-560

Carmo-Fonseca M, Mendes-Soares L, Campos I. (2000). To be or not to be in the nucleolus. *Nat Cell Biol.* **2**, E107-12

Carnac,G., Kodjabachian,L., Gurdon,J.B., Lemaire,P. (1996). The homeobox gene Siamois is a target of the Wnt dorsalisation pathway and triggers organiser activity in the absence of mesoderm. *Development*. **122**, 3055-65.

Carrera,I., Janody,F., Leeds,N., Duveau,F., Treisman,J.E. (2008). Pygopus activates Wingless target gene transcription through the mediator complex subunits Med12 and Med13. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **105**, 6644-9.

Cavallo,R.A., Cox,R.T., Moline,M.M., Roose,J., Polevoy,G.A., Clevers,H., Peifer, M., Bejsovec,A. (1998). Drosophila Tcf and Groucho interact to repress Wingless signalling activity. *Nature*. **395**, 604-8.

Chamorro, M.N., Schwartz, D.R., Vonica, A., Brivanlou, A.H., Cho, K.R., Varmus, H.E. (2005). FGF-20 and DKK1 are transcriptional targets of beta-catenin and FGF-20 is implicated in cancer and development. EMBO J. 24, 73-84.

Chang, J.L., Chang, M.V., Barolo, S., Cadigan, K.M. (2008). Regulation of the feedback antagonist naked cuticle by Wingless signaling. *Dev Biol.* **321**, 446-54.

Chavand,O., Spilsbury,K., Rakoczy,P.E. (2001). Addition of a c-myc epitope tag within the VEGF protein does not affect in vitro biological activity. *Biochem Cell Biol.* **79**, 107-12.

Chen, D., Huang, S. (2001). Nucleolar components involved in ribosome biogenesis cycle between the nucleolus and nucleoplasm in interphase cells. *J Cell Biol.* **153**,169-76.

Chen,G., Fernandez,J., Mische,S., Courey,A.J. (1999). A functional interaction between the histone deacetylase Rpd3 and the corepressor groucho in Drosophila development. *Genes Dev.* 13, 2218-30.

Chen,G., Shukeir,N., Potti,A., Sircar,K., Aprikian,A., Goltzman,D., Rabbani,S.A. (2004). Up-regulation of Wnt-1 and Beta-catenin Production in Patients with Advanced Metastatic Prostate Carcinoma. *Cancer.* **101**:1345-1356.

Chen,R.S., Song,Y.M., Zhou,Z.Y., Tong,T., Li,Y., Fu,M., Guo,X.L., Dong,L.J., He,X., Qiao,H.X., Zhan,Q.M., Li,W. (2009). Disruption of xCT inhibits cancer cell metastasis via the caveolin-1/beta-catenin pathway. *Oncogene*. **28**, 599-609.

Christie, M., Oehler, M.K. (2006). Molecular pathology of epithelial ovarian cancer. *J Br Menopause Soc.* **12**, 57-63

Cordin,O., Banroques,J., Tanner,N.K., Linder,P. (2006). The DEAD-box protein family of RNA helicases. *Gene*. **15**:17-37.

de la Roche, M., Bienz, M. (2007). Wingless-Independent Association of Pygopus with dTCF Target Genes. *Current Biology*. 17: 1-6.

de Lau, W., Barker, N., Clevers, H. (2007). WNT signaling in the normal intestine and colorectal cancer. *Front Biosci.* **12**, 471-91. Review.

Dias, N., Stein, C.A. (2002). Antisense Oligonucleotides: Basic Concepts and Mechanisms. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*. 1: 347-355.

Dixon, J., Edwards, S.J., Anderson, I., Brass, A., Scambler, P.J., Dixon, M.J. (1997). Identification of the complete coding sequence and genomic organization of the Treacher Collins syndrome gene. *Genome Res.* 7, 223-34

Dixon, J., Brakebusch, C., Fässler, R., Dixon, M.J. (2000). Increased levels of apoptosis in the prefusion neural folds underlie the craniofacial disorder, Treacher Collins syndrome. *Hum Mol Genet.* **9**, 1473-80

Dixon,J., Jones,N.C., Sandell,L.L, Jayasinghe,S.M., Crane,J., Rey,J-P., Dixon,M.J., Trainor,P.A. (2006). Tcof1/Treacle is required for neural crest cell formation and proliferation deficiencies that cause craniofacial abnormalities. *PNAS*. **103**:13403-13408.

Dixon, J., Trainor, P., Dixon, M.J. (2007). Treacher Collins syndrome. Orthod Craniofac Res. 10, 88-95.

Dominguez, I., Itoh, K., Sokol, S.Y. (1995). Role of glycogen synthase kinase 3 beta as a negative regulator of dorsoventral axis formation in Xenopus embryos. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* **92**, 8498-502.

Dunty, W.C.Jr., Biris, K.K., Chalamalasetty, R.B., Taketo, M.M., Lewandoski, M., Yamaguchi, T.P. (2008). Wnt3a/beta-catenin signaling controls posterior body development by coordinating mesoderm formation and segmentation. *Development*. **135**, 85-94.

Fimmel,S., Saborowski,A., Orfanos,C.E., Zouboulis,C.C. (2000). Development of Efficient Transfection Systems for Introducing Antisense Oligonucleotides into human Epithelial Skin Cells. Horm Res. 54:306-311.

Fiedler, M., Sanchez-Barrena, M.J., Nekrasov, M., Mieszczanek, J., Rybin, V., Muller, J., Evans, P., Bienz, M. (2008). Decoding of Methylated Histone H3 Tail by the Pygo-BCL9 Wnt Signaling Complex. Molecular Cell. 30:507–518.

Gaspar, C., Cardoso, J., Franken, P., Molenaar, L., Morreau, H., Möslein, G., Sampson, J., Boer, J.M., de Menezes, R.X., Fodde, R. (2008). Cross-species comparison of human and mouse intestinal polyps reveals conserved mechanisms in adenomatous polyposis coli (APC)-driven tumorigenesis. *Am J Pathol.* **172**, 1363-80.

Gautier, T., Bergès, T., Tollervey, D., Hurt, E. (1997). Nucleolar KKE/D repeat proteins Nop56p and Nop58p interact with Nop1p and are required for ribosome biogenesis. *Mol Cell Biol.* **17**, 7088-98.

Giles, R.H., van Es, J.H., Clevers, H. (2003). Caught up in a Wnt storm: Wnt signaling in cancer. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta. 1653: 1-24.

Glibetic, M., Taylor, L., Larson, D., Hannan, R., Sells, B., Rothblum, L. (1995). The RNA polymerase I transcription factor UBF is the product of a primary response gene. *J Biol Chem.* **270**, 4209-12

Gonzales, B., Henning, D., So, R.B., Dixon, J., Dixon, M.J., Valdez, B.C. (2005a). The Treacher Collins syndrome (TCOF1) gene product is involved in pre-rRNA methylation. *Hum Mol Genet.* **14**, 2035-43.

Gonzales, B., Yang, H., Henning, D., Valdez, B.C. (2005b). Cloning and functional characterization of the Xenopus orthologue of the Treacher Collins syndrome (TCOF1) gene product. Gene. 359, 73-80.

Grigoryan, T., Wend, P., Klaus, A., Birchmeier, W. (2008). Deciphering the function of canonical Wnt signals in development and disease: conditional loss- and gain-of-function mutations of beta-catenin in mice. *Genes Dev.* **22**, 2308-41.

Groden, J, Thliveris, A, Samowitz, W, Carlson, M, Gelbert, L, Albertsen, H, Joslyn, G, Stevens, J, Spirio, L, Robertson, M, et al. (1991). Identification and characterization of the familial adenomatous polyposis coli gene. *Cell.* **66**(33), 589-600.

Guger,K.A., Gumbiner,B.M. (1995). beta-Catenin has Wnt-like activity and mimics the Nieuwkoop signaling center in Xenopus dorsal-ventral patterning.*Dev Biol.* **172**, 115-25.

Guil,S., Gattoni,R., Carrascal,M., Abian,J., Stevenin,J., Bach-Elias,M. (2003). Roles of hnRNP A1, SR proteins, and p68 helicase in c-H-ras alternative splicing regulation. *Mol Cell Biol.* 23, 2927-41

Hadjihannas, M.V., Brückner, M., Jerchow, B., Birchmeier, W., Dietmaier, W., Behrens, J. (2006). Aberrant Wnt/beta-catenin signaling can induce chromosomal instability in colon cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* **103**, 10747-52.

Hamilton, A., Baulcombe, D. (1999). A species of small antisense RNA in posttranscriptional gene silencing in plants. *Science*. **286**, 950–2.

Hayano, T., Yanagida, M., Yamauchi, Y., Shinkawa, T., Isobe, T., Takahashi, N. (2003). Proteomic analysis of human Nop56p-associated pre-ribosomal ribonucleoprotein complexes. Possible link between Nop56p and the nucleolar protein treacle responsible for Treacher Collins syndrome. *J Biol Chem.* **278**, 34309-19.

He,T.C., Sparks,A.B., Rago,C., Hermeking,H., Zawel,L., da Costa,L.T., Morin,P.J., Vogelstein,B., Kinzler,K.W. (1998). Identification of c-MYC as a target of the APC pathway. *Science*. **281**, 1509-12.

He,X., Semenov,M., Tamai,K., Zeng,X. (2004a). LDL receptor-related proteins 5 and 6 in Wnt/beta-catenin signaling: arrows point the way. *Development*. **131**,1663-77. Review.

He,X.C., Zhang,J., Tong,W.G., Tawfik,O., Ross,J., Scoville,D.H., Tian,Q., Zeng,X., He,X., Wiedemann,L.M., Mishina,Y., Li,L. (2004b) BMP signaling inhibits intestinal stem cell self-renewal through suppression of Wnt-beta-catenin signaling. *Nat Genet.* **36**, 1117-21.

Hecht, A., Vleminckx, K., Stemmler, M.P., van Roy, F., Kemler, R. (2000). The p300/CBP acetyltransferases function as transcriptional coactivators of betacatenin in vertebrates. *EMBO J.* **19**, 1839-50.

Henning, D., So, R.B., Jin, R., Lau, L.F., Valdez, B.C. (2003). Silencing of RNA helicase II/Gu alpha inhibits mammalian ribosomal RNA production. *J Biol Chem.* **278**, 52307-14.

Hinoi, T., Akyol, A., Theisen, B.K., Ferguson, D.O., Greenson, J.K., Williams, B.O., Cho, K.R., Fearon, E.R. (2007). Mouse model of colonic adenoma-carcinoma progression based on somatic Apc inactivation. *Cancer Res.* **67**, 9721-30.

Hoffmans, R., Basler, K. (2004). Identification and in vivo role of the Armadillo-Legless interaction. *Development*. **131**, 4393-4400

Hoffmans, R., Städeli, R., Basler, K. (2005). Pygopus and legless provide essential transcriptional coactivator functions to armadillo/beta-catenin. *Curr Biol.* 15, 1207-11.

Howe, L.R., Brown, A.M. (2004). Wnt signaling and breast cancer. *Cancer Biol. Ther.* **3**, 36-41.

Huang, S. (2002). Building an efficient factory: where is pre-rRNA synthesized in the nucleolus? *J Cell Biol.* **157**, 739-41.

Huber, O., Krohn, M., Kemler, R. (1997). A specific domain in alpha-catenin mediates binding to beta-catenin or plakoglobin. *J Cell Sci.* **110**, 1759-65.

Huelsken, J., Vogel, R., Erdmann, B., Cotsarelis, G., Birchmeier, W. (2001). beta-Catenin controls hair follicle morphogenesis and stem cell differentiation in the skin. *Cell.* **105**, 533-45.

Hülsken, J., Birchmeier, W., Behrens, J. (1994). E-cadherin and APC compete for the interaction with beta-catenin and the cytoskeleton. *J Cell Biol.* **127**, 2061-9.

Isaac, C., Marsh, K.L., Paznekas, W.A., Dixon, J., Dixon, M.J., Jabs, E.W., Meier, U.T. (2000). Characterization of the nucleolar gene product, treacle, in Treacher Collins syndrome. *Mol Biol Cell*. **11**, 3061-71.

Ito,M., Yang,Z., Andl,T., Cui,C., Kim,N., Millar,S.E., Cotsarelis,G. (2007). Wntdependent de novo hair follicle regeneration in adult mouse skin after wounding. *Nature*. **447**, 316-20.

Jalal, C., Uhlmann-Schiffler, H., Stahl, H. (2007). Redundant role of DEAD box proteins p68 (Ddx5) and p72/p82 (Ddx17) in ribosome biogenesis and cell proliferation. Nucleic Acids Res. 35, 3590-601

Jemal, A., Siegel, R., Ward, E., Murray, T., Xu, J., Thun, M. (2007). Cancer statistics, 2007. *CA Cancer J Clin.* 57,43-66.

Joyce, T., Pintzas, A. (2007). Microarray analysis to reveal genes involved in colon carcinogenesis. Expert Opin Pharmacother. 8, 895-900. Review.

Katoh, M. (2002). WNT and FGF gene clusters. Int J Oncol. 21, 1269-73. Review.

Kemler, R. (1993). From cadherins to catenins: cytoplasmic protein interactions and regulation of cell adhesion. *Trends Genet.* 9, 317-21. Review.

Kildal, W., Risberg, B., Abeler, V.M., Kristensen, G.B., Sudbø, J., Nesland, J.M., Danielsen, H.E. (2005). beta-catenin expression, DNA ploidy and clinicopathological features in ovarian cancer: A study in 253 patients. *Eur.J. Cancer.* **41**, 1127-1134.

Kim, M., Lee, H.C., Tsedensodnom, O., Hartley, R., Lim, Y.S., Yu, E., Merle, P., Wands, J.R. (2008). Functional interaction between Wnt3 and Frizzled-7 leads to activation of the Wnt/beta-catenin signaling pathway in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. *J Hepatol.* **48**, 780-91.

Kishida,S., Yamamoto,H., Ikeda,S., Kishida,M., Sakamoto,I., Koyama,S., Kikuchi,A. (1998). Axin, a negative regulator of the wnt signaling pathway, directly interacts with adenomatous polyposis coli and regulates the stabilization of beta-catenin. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 10823-10826.

Klaus, A., Birchmeier, W. (2008). Wnt signalling and its impact on development and cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer.* 8, 387-98.

Korinek, V., Barker, N., Moerer, P., van Donselaar, E., Huls, G., Peters, P.J., Clevers, H. (1998). Depletion of epithelial stem-cell compartments in the small intestine of mice lacking Tcf-4. *Nat Genet.* **19**, 379-83.

Kramps, T., Peter, O., Brunner, E., Nellen, D., Froesch, B., Chatterjee, S., Murone, M., Zullig, S., Basler, K. (2002). Wnt/wingless signaling requires BCL9/leglessmediated recruitment of pygopus to the nuclear beta-catenin-TCF complex. *Cell*. **109**, 47-60.

Krieghoff, E., Behrens, J., Mayr, B. (2006). Nucleo-cytoplasmic distribution of betacatenin is regulated by retention. *J Cell Sci.* **119**, 1453-63.

Lake, B.B., Kao, K.R. (2003). Pygopus is required for embryonic brain patterning in Xenopus. *Dev. Biol.* **261**, 132-148.

Landen, C.N. Jr., Birrer, M.J., Sood, A.K. (2008). Early events in the pathogenesis of epithelial ovarian cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* **26**, 995-1005.

Larue, L., Delmas, V. (2006). The WNT/Beta-catenin pathway in melanoma. *Front Biosci.* 11, 733-42. Review.

Lemaire, P., Garrett, N., Gurdon, J.B. (1995). Expression cloning of Siamois, a Xenopus homeobox gene expressed in dorsal-vegetal cells of blastulae and able to induce a complete secondary axis. *Cell.* **81**, 85-94.

Li,B., Mackay,D.R., Ma,J., Dai,X. (2004). Cloning and developmental expression of mouse pygopus 2, a putative Wnt signaling component. *Genomics.* 84:398-405.

Li,B., Rhéaume,C., Teng,A., Bilanchone,V., Munguia,J.E., Hu,M., Jessen,S., Piccolo,S., Waterman,M.L., Dai,X. (2007). Developmental phenotypes and reduced Wnt signaling in mice deficient for pygopus 2. *Genesis.* **45**, 318-25.

Lynch,H.T., Grady,W., Suriano,G., Huntsman,D. (2005). Gastric cancer: new genetic developments. *J Surg Oncol.* **90**, 114-33

Li,H., Ilin,S., Wang,W., Duncan,E.M., Wysocka,J., Allis,C.D., Patel,D.J. (2006). Molecular basis for site-specific read-out of histone H3K4me3 by the BPTF PHD finger of NURF. *Nature*. **442**, 91-5.

Liu,Z.R. (2002). p68 RNA helicase is an essential human splicing factor that acts at the U1 snRNA-5' splice site duplex. *Mol Cell Biol.* 22, 5443-50

Lu, W., Tinsley, H.N., Keeton, A., Qu, Z., Piazza, G.A., Li, Y. (2009). Suppression of Wnt/beta-catenin signaling inhibits prostate cancer cell proliferation. *Eur J Pharmacol.* **602**, 8-14.

Malanchi,I., Peinado,H., Kassen,D., Hussenet,T., Metzger,D., Chambon,P., Huber,M., Hohl,D., Cano,A., Birchmeier,W., Huelsken,J. (2008). Cutaneous cancer stem cell maintenance is dependent on beta-catenin signalling. *Nature*. **452**, 650-3.

McMahon, A.P., Moon, R.T. (1989). Ectopic expression of the proto-oncogene int-1 in Xenopus embryos leads to duplication of the embryonic axis. *Cell.* **58**, 1075-84.

Moretti,A., Caron,L., Nakano,A., Lam,J.T., Bernshausen,A., Chen,Y., Qyang,Y., Bu,L., Sasaki,M., Martin-Puig,S., Sun,Y., Evans,S.M., Laugwitz,K.L., Chien,K.R. (2006). Multipotent embryonic isl1+ progenitor cells lead to cardiac, smooth muscle, and endothelial cell diversification. *Cell*. **127**, 1151-65.

Mortz, E., Krogh, T.N., Vorum, H., Görg, A. (2001). Improved silver staining protocols for high sensitivity protein identification using matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization-time of flight analysis. *Proteomics*. 1:1359-63.

Murakami, T., Toda, S., Fujimoto, M., Ohtsuki, M., Byers, H.R., Etoh, T., Nakagawa, H. (2001). Constitutive activation of Wnt/beta-catenin signaling pathway in migration-active melanoma cells: role of LEF-1 in melanoma with increased metastatic potential. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* **288**, 8-15.

Nakaya,M.A., Biris,K., Tsukiyama,T., Jaime,S., Rawls,J.A., Yamaguchi,T.P. (2005). Wnt3a links left-right determination with segmentation and anteroposterior axis elongation. *Development*. **132**, 5425-36.

Nüsslein-Volhard, C., Wieschaus, E. (1980). Mutations affecting segment number and polarity in Drosophila. *Nature*. **287**, 795-801.

Ogasawara, N., Tsukamoto, T., Mizoshita, T., Inada, K., Cao, X., Takenaka, Y., Joh, T., Tatematsu, M. (2006). Mutations and nuclear accumulation of beta-catenin correlate with intestinal phenotypic expression in human gastric cancer. *Histopathology*. **49**, 612-21.

Olson, M.O.J. (2004). The nucleolus. Book published by Landes bioscience.

Parker, D.S., Jemison, J., Cadigan, K.M. (2002). Pygopus, a nuclear PHD-finger protein required for Wingless signaling in Drosophila. *Development*. **129**: 2565-2576.

Patel,S., Woodgett,J. (2008). Glycogen synthase kinase-3 and cancer: good cop, bad cop?. *Cancer Cell*. 14, 351-3

Paterson, BM, Roberts, B.E., Kuff, E.L. (1977). Structural gene identification and mapping by DNA-mRNA hybrid-arrested cell free translation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 74:4370-4.

Pedeson, T. (1998). The plurifuntional nucleolus. Nucleic Acids Res. 26, 3871-3876.

Peifer, M., Polakis, P. (2000). Wnt signaling in oncogenesis and embryoge-nesis—a look outside the nucleus. *Science*. 287, 1606.

Peña, P.V., Davrazou, F., Shi, X., Walter, K.L., Verkhusha, V.V., Gozani, O., Zhao, R., Kutateladze, T.G. (2006). Molecular mechanism of histone H3K4me3 recognition by plant homeodomain of ING2. *Nature*. **442**, 100-3.

Piao, S., Lee, S.H., Kim, H., Yum, S., Stamos, J.L., Xu, Y., Lee, S.J., Lee, J., Oh, S., Han, J.K., Park, B.J., Weis, W.I., Ha, N.C. (2008). Direct inhibition of GSK3beta by the phosphorylated cytoplasmic domain of LRP6 in Wnt/beta-catenin signaling. *PLoS ONE.* **3**, e4046.

Popadiuk, C.M., Xiong, J., Wells, M.G., Andrews, P.G., Dankwa, K., Hirasawa, K., Lake, B., Kao, K.R. (2006). Antisense suppression of Pygopus2 results in growth arrest of Epithelial Ovarian Cancer. *Clin. Cancer Res.* **12**(7), 2216-2223.

Powell,S.M., Zilz,N., Beazer-Barclay,Y., Bryan,T.M., Hamilton,S.R., Thibodeau,S.N., Vogelstein,B., Kinzler,K.W. (1992). APC mutations occur early during colorectal tumorigenesis. *Nature*. **359**, 235-237.

Qyang, Y., Martin-Puig, S., Chiravuri, M., Chen, S., Xu, H., Bu, L., Jiang, X., Lin, L., Granger, A., Moretti, A., Caron, L., Wu, X., Clarke, J., Taketo, M.M., Laugwitz, K.L., Moon, R.T., Gruber, P., Evans, S.M., Ding, S., Chien, K.R. (2007). The renewal and differentiation of Isl1+ cardiovascular progenitors are controlled by a Wnt/beta-catenin pathway. *Cell Stem Cell.* **1**, 165-79.

Ramón-Maiques, S., Kuo, A.J., Carney, D., Matthews, A.G., Oettinger, M.A., Gozani, O., Yang, W. (2007). The plant homeodomain finger of RAG2 recognizes histone H3 methylated at both lysine-4 and arginine-2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **104**, 18993-8.

Rijsewijk, F., Schuermann, M., Wagenaar, E., Parren, P., Weigel, D., Nusse, R. (1987). The Drosophila homolog of the mouse mammary oncogene int-1 is identical to the segment polarity gene wingless. *Cell.* **50**, 649-57.

Rossler, O.G., Straka, A., Stahl, H. (2001). Rearrangement of structured RNA via branch migration structures catalysed by the highly related DEAD-box proteins p68 and p72. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **29**, 2088-96

Rossow,K.L., Janknecht,R. (2003). Synergism between p68 RNA helicase and the transcriptional coactivators CBP and p300. *Oncogene*. **22**, 151-3.

Scheer, U., Hock, R. (1999). Structure and function of the nucleolus. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 11, 385-90.

Schwab,K.R., Patterson,L.T., Hartman,H.A., Song,N., Lang,R.A., Lin,X., Potter,S.S. (2007). Pygo1 and Pygo2 roles in Wnt signaling in mammalian kidney development. *BMC Biol.* **5**:15-30.

Schwarz-Romond, T., Metcalfe, C., Bienz, M. (2007). Dynamic recruitment of axin by Dishevelled protein assemblies. *J Cell Sci.* **120**, 2402-12.

Sechi, S., Chait, B.T. (1998). Modification of Cysteine Residues by Alkylation. A Tool in Peptide Mapping and Protein Identification. *Anal. Chem.*. **70**: 5150 - 5158.

Segditsas, S., Tomlinson, I. (2006). Colorectal cancer and genetic alterations in the Wnt pathway. *Oncogene*. **25**, 7531-7.

Seno,H., Oshima,M., Ishikawa,T.O., Oshima,H., Takaku,K., Chiba,T., Narumiya,S., Taketo,M.M. (2002). Cyclooxygenase 2- and prostaglandin E(2) receptor EP(2)-dependent angiogenesis in Apc(Delta716) mouse intestinal polyps. *Cancer Res.* **62**, 506-11.

Shav-Tal,Y., Blechman,J., Darzacq,X., Montagna,C., Dye,B.T., Patton,J.G., Singer,R.H., Zipori,D. (2005). Dynamic sorting of nuclear components into

distinct nucleolar caps during transcriptional inhibition. *Mol Biol Cell.* 16, 2395-413.

Shin,S., Rossow,K.L., Grande,J.P., Janknecht,R.(2007). Involvement of RNA Helicases p68 and p72 in Colon Cancer. *Cancer Res.* 67, 7572-78.

Sierra, J., Yoshida, T., Joazeiro, C.A., Jones, K.A. (2006). The APC tumor suppressor counteracts beta-catenin activation and H3K4 methylation at Wnt target genes. *Genes Dev.* **20**, 586-600.

Simpson,K.J., Selfors,L.M., Bui,J., Reynolds,A., Leake,D., Khvorova,A., Brugge,J.S. (2008). Identification of genes that regulate epithelial cell migration using an siRNA screening approach. *Nat Cell Biol.* **10**, 1027-38.

Smetana,K., Busch,R., Chan,P.K., Smetana,K.Jr., Busch,H. (2001). Immunocytochemical localization of nucleophosmin and RH-II/Gu protein in nucleoli of HeLa cells after treatment with actinomycin D. *Acta Histochem.* **103**, 325-33.

Smith, J.C., Price, B.M., Green, J.B., Weigel, D., Herrmann, B.G. (1991). Expression of a Xenopus homolog of Brachyury (T) is an immediate-early response to mesoderm induction. *Cell.* 67, 79-87.

Song,N., Schwab,K.R., Patterson,L.T., Yamaguchi,T., Lin,X., Potter,S.S., Lang,R.A. (2007). pygopus 2 has a crucial, Wnt pathway-independent function in lens induction. *Development*. **134**, 1873-85.

Stadeli,R., Basler,K. (2005). Dissecting nuclear Wingless signalling: Recruitment of the transcriptional co-activator Pygopus by a chain of adaptor proteins. *Mechanisms of Development.* **122**: 1171-1182.

Sterner, D.E., Berger, S.L. (2000). Acetylation of histones and transcription-related factors. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev.* 64, 435-59. Review.

Stoick-Cooper, C.L., Weidinger, G., Riehle, K.J., Hubbert, C., Major, M.B., Fausto, N., Moon, R.T. (2007). Distinct Wnt signaling pathways have opposing roles in appendage regeneration. *Development*. **134**, 479-89.

Tamai,K., Zeng,X., Liu,C., Zhang,X., Harada,Y., Chang,Z., He,X. (2004). A mechanism for Wnt coreceptor activation. *Mol Cell*. **13**, 149-56.

Tetsu,O., McCormick,F. (1999). Beta-catenin regulates expression of cyclin D1 in colon carcinoma cells. *Nature*. **398**, 422-6.

Tran,E.J., Zhang,X., Maxwell,E.S. (2003). Efficient RNA 2'-O-methylation requires juxtaposed and symmetrically assembled archaeal box C/D and C'/D' RNPs. *EMBO J.* 22, 3930-40.

Thompson, B., Townsley, F., Rosin-Arbesfeld, R., Musisi, H., and Bienz, M. (2002). A new nuclear component of the Wnt signalling pathway. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 4, 367-373.

Tollervey, D., Lehtonen, H., Carmo-Fonseca, M., Hurt, E.C. (1991). The small nucleolar RNP protein NOP1 (fibrillarin) is required for pre-rRNA processing in yeast. *EMBO J.* **10**, 573-83.

Tolwinski, N.S., Wieschaus, E. (2004). A nuclear escort for beta-catenin. *Nat Cell Biol.* 6, 579-80.

Tolwinski,N.S., Wehrli,M., Rives,A., Erdeniz,N., DiNardo,S., Wieschaus,E.(2003). Wg/Wnt signal can be transmitted through arrow/LRP5,6 and Axin independently of Zw3/Gsk3beta activity. *Dev Cell.* 4, 407-18.

Topaloglou, T. (2006). Informatics solutions for high-throughput proteomics. *Drug Discovery Today.* **11**: 509-516.

Townsley, F., Thompson, B., Bienz, M. (2004). Pygopus residues required for its binding to legless are critical for transcription and development. *The J. Biol. Chem.* **279**(7), 6177-83.

Ueda, M., Gemmill, R.M., West, J., Winn, R., Sugita, M., Tanaka, N., Ueki, M., Drabkin, H.A. (2001). Mutations of the beta- and gamma-catenin genes are uncommon in human lung, breast, kidney, cervical and ovarian carcinomas. Br J Cancer. 85, 64-8.

Unuma, T., Senda, R., Muramatsu, M. (1973). Mechanism of nucleolar segregation-differences in effects of actinomycin D and cycloheximide on nucleoli of rat liver cells. *J Electron Microsc (Tokyo)*. **22**, 205-16. Valdez,B.C., Henning,D., So,R.B., Dixon,J., Dixon,M.J. (2004). The Treacher Collins syndrome (TCOF1) gene product is involved in ribosomal DNA gene transcription by interacting with upstream binding factor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci.* 101, 10709-14.

Valdez,B.C., Perlaky,L., Henning,D. (2002). Expression, cellular localization, and enzymatic activities of RNA helicase II/Guβ. *Experimental Cell Research*. **276**, 249-263.

van Amerongen, R., Mikels, A., Nusse, R. (2008). Alternative wnt signaling is initiated by distinct receptors. *Sci Signal.* 1, re9. Review.

van Noort, M., van de Wetering, M., Clevers, H. (2002). Identification of two novel regulated serines in the N terminus of beta-catenin. *Exp Cell Res.* **276**, 264-72.

Verma, U.N., Surabhi, R.M., Schmaltieg, A., Becerra, C., Gaynor, R.B. (2003). Small interfering RNAs directed against beta-catenin inhibit the in vitro and in vivo growth of colon cancer cells. *Clin. Cancer. Res.* 9, 1291-1300.

Verras, M., Sun, Z. (2006). Roles and regulation of Wnt signaling and beta-catenin in prostate cancer. *Cancer Lett.* **237**, 22-32.

Visintin, R., Amon, A. (2000). The nucleolus: the magician's hat for cell cycle tricks. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* **12**: 372-377.

Webster, M.T., Rozycka, M., Sara, E., Davis, E., Smalley, M., Young, N., Dale, T.C., Wooster, R. (2000). Sequence variants of the axin gene in breast, colon, and other cancers: an analysis of mutations that interfere with GSK3 binding. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer*. **28**: 443-453.

Wehrli, M., Dougan, S.T., Caldwell, K., O'Keefe, L., Schwartz, S., Vaizel-Ohayon, D., Schejter, E., Tomlinson, A., DiNardo, S. (2000). arrow encodes an LDL-receptor-related protein essential for Wingless signalling. Nature. 407, 527-30.

Wheelock, M.J., Johnson, K.R. (2003). Cadherins as modulators of cellular phenotype. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 19, 207-235.

Willert,K., Shibamoto,S., Nusse,R. (1999). Wnt-induced dephosphory-lation of axin releases beta-catenin from the axin complex. *Genes Dev.* 13, 1768-1773.

Winokur, S.T., Shiang, R. (1998) The treacher Collins syndrome (TCOF1) gene product, treacle, is targeted to the nucleolus by signals in its C-terminus. *Human Molecular Genetics*. 7, 1947-52.

Wright,K.J., Tjian,R. (2009). Wnt signaling targets ETO coactivation domain of TAF4/TFIID in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **106**, 55-60.

Wu,G., He,X. (2006). Threonine 41 in beta-catenin serves as a key phosphorylation relay residue in beta-catenin degradation. *Biochemistry*. **45**, 5319-23.

Yang,H., Henning,D., Valdez,B.C. (2005). Functional interaction between RNA helicase II/Gu(alpha) and ribosomal protein L4. *FEBS J.* 15:3788-802.

Yang, S., Lockwood, A., Hollett, P., Ford, R., Kao, K. (1998). Overexpression of a novel Xenopus rel mRNA gene induces tumors in early embryos. *J Biol Chem.* **273**, 13746-52.

Zauber, N.P., Sabbath-Solitare, M., Marotta, S.P., Bishop, D.T. (2003). The characterization of somatic APC mutations in colonic adenomas and carcinomas in Ashkenazi Jews with the APC II307K variant using linkage disequilibrium. J *Pathol.* **199**, 146-51.

Zamecnik, P.C., Stephenson, M.L. (1978). Inhibition of Rous sarcoma virus replication and cell transformation by a specific oligodeoxynucleotide. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. **75**:280-4.

Zeng,L., Fagotto,F., Zhang,T., Hsu,W., Vasicek,T.J., Perry,W.L.3rd., Lee,J.J., Tilghman,S.M., Gumbiner,B.M., Costantini,F. (1997). The mouse Fused locus encodes Axin, an inhibitor of the Wnt signaling pathway that regulates embryonic axis formation. *Cell.* **90**, 181-92.

Zeng, W., Wharton, K.A. Jr., Mack, J.A., Wang, K., Gadbaw, M., Suyama, K., Klein, P.S., Scott, M.P. (2000). naked cuticle encodes an inducible antagonist of Wnt signalling. *Nature*. **403**, 789-95.

Zeng,X., Huang,H., Tamai,K., Zhang,X., Harada,Y., Yokota,C., Almeida,K., Wang,J., Doble,B., Woodgett,J., Wynshaw-Boris,A., Hsieh,J.C., He,X. (2008). Initiation of Wnt signaling: control of Wnt coreceptor Lrp6 Phosphorylation/ activation via frizzled, dishevelled and axin functions. *Development*. **135**, 367-75.

Zhai, Y., Wu, R., Schwartz, D.R., Darrah, D., Reed, H., Kolligs, T.F., Nieman, T.M., Fearon, R.E., Cho, R.K. (2002). Role of beta-catenin/T-cell factor-regulated genes in ovarian endometrioid adenocarcinomas. *Am J Pathol.* **160**, 1229–38.

Zhang,X., Gaspard,J.P., Chung,D.C. (2001). Regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor by the Wnt and K-ras pathways in colonic neoplasia. *Cancer Res.* **61**, 6050-4.

## Appendix

## **Transcriptional Reporter Assays**

To determine transcription activity, Luciferase Assasys were performed as described (Andrews et al., 2008). The reporter plasmid, pFR-Luc (Stratagene), consists of the luciferase gene driven by Gal4-binding sites and a basic transcriptional promoter (TATATA). The genes of interest were cloned into pM-Gal4 (Clontech) plasmid vectors expressing Gal4 DNA binding domain (Gal4DBD). When pFR-Luc is transfected into cancer cells, little or no luciferase is expressed as the background expression level for the cell line used. When it was co-transfected with previously constructed pM-Gal4 plasmids, luciferase gene expression was measured, resulting from the association of Gal4-binding sites with the Gal4DBD in fusion with protein products encoded by the genes of interest. Therefore, the transcriptional activity of genes of interest can be quantified by relative luciferase activity.

For this thesis, MCF-7 cells were seeded in triplicate 24 hours before transfection at a density of  $1.5 \times 10^5$  per well in 12-well plates. pM-Gal4 plasmids containing the genes of interest were co-transfected with pFR-Luc reporter plasmids into cells using Lipofectamine and Plus Reagent (Invitrogen). pRSV- $\beta$ gal plasmids (Promega) expressing  $\beta$ -galactosidase to determine transfection efficiency were also co-transfected. Luciferase activities were measured using a

- 97 -

luciferase assay reagent (Promega) and a Monolight 2010 Luminometer 48 hours after transfection according to the manufacturer's directions. Relative luciferase unit (RLU) values were normalized to  $\beta$ -galactosidase activity in each sample.

Appendix Figure: NHD NPF-AAA mutant lost transcription activity determined by a transcriptional reporter assay. Gal4DBD alone (Column 1), Gal4DBD in fusion with NHD wildtype (Column2), and Gal4DBD in fusion with NHD NPF-AAA mutant protein (Column 3) were co-transfected with pFR-Luc reporter plasmids into MCF-7 cells. RLU were measured and normalized to  $\beta$ -galactosidase activity in each sample. (Data from Mr. Phillip Andrews)



## Appendix Figure





